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2 Phoenician International Limited

Trusted | Innovative | International      

WHO 
WE 
ARE The Group

Phoenician International Limited (“Phoenician”) is a publicly listed investment firm 

headquartered in Hong Kong, dedicated to providing wealth management, investment 

management and investment banking services to a select group of private, institutional, 

and corporate clients.

Our Strategy

Phoenician help innovators, entrepreneurs, industry leaders achieve their financial goals 

by serving as a bridge between China and the West, while connecting leading foreign 

institutional investors with markets in Asia.

Our Business

From managing wealth for successful individuals and institutions to helping businesses 

fulfil their ambition, Phoenician’s comprehensive suite of solutions empowers our clients 

to make the most of global opportunities.
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Trusted by the Most 
Demanding Clients

We manage wealth for highly 

sophisticated, multi-jurisdiction private 

clients and family offices with global 

investment interests

We offer a comprehensive suite of bespoken portfolio 

management solutions combined with a high-touch, 

personalized approach to client needs across products and 

jurisdictions.

Our discretionary and non-discretionary investment 

solutions are combined with state-of-the-art market 

connectivity across 50 markets and over 30 currencies.

As most of our clients are successful entrepreneurs, we 

also provide best-in-class corporate advisory services to 

facilitate monetization of their business interests.
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Independent Minds 
Delivering Performance 
Through “Dual World” 
Innovative Solutions

We offer our clients a constant stream 

of high-performance investable ideas 

actionable across the East/West divide, 

specifically tailored to their financial 

circumstances

As an independent investment firm, Phoenician has 

the ability to work with leading platforms and service 

providers worldwide in order to offer clients best-in-class 

advisory services and trading capabilities across asset 

classes, with major benefits on portfolio diversification.

Our key focus is to address the ever-increasing demand for 

multi-national cross-border investment flows between 

China/ASEAN financial markets and the rest of the world.

We leverage on our global network of clients and 

relationships coupled with our decade long presence 

in the Greater China region to offer clients global access 

to exclusive investment opportunities across multiple 

jurisdictions.



5Annual Report 2023

International Footprint 
Delivering Local Insights

Across our Regional Offices, we have 

Built a Network of Reputable Local 

Professionals who Speak the Language, 

Know the Culture and Have First-Hand 

Knowledge of Clients’ Needs

As a result of our relationship-based approach to private 

and institutional clients, Phoenician has the ability to scout 

co-investment opportunities in promising early-stage 

ventures, especially within the Greater China region, that 

are generally not available for investment by the general 

public;

As a result of its deep connection with local communities 

both globally and within Greater China, over time we have 

hired and developed outstanding talent to enhance our 

client service and expand our private, institutional and 

corporate client network;

Phoenician management team is constantly involved in 

local communities’ activities, with substantial benefits in 

terms of employee loyalty and client trust.
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Our Offices

Sydney (NSX)

Hong Kong
Headquarter

Shanghai
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Beijing
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Dear Shareholders,

As the world economies are facing multiple challenges 

from global geopolitical turbulences, the year just ended 

was characterized by deteriorating economic and financial 

fundamentals coupled with complicated and prolonged 

regional tensions. The combined effect was not only 

escalating global inflation expectations to a record level 

but also a deterioration of the global economic outlook.

While US equity markets performed reasonably well during 

the year, mostly powered by a handful of large caps, other 

regional equity markets were flat or negative in 2023. On 

the other hand, global debt market performed reasonably 

well in Asia and Europe, but not enough to recover the 

steep losses experienced in 2022.

At Phoenician, we are well prepared for both good and 

challenging times thanks to our risk balanced approach 

to asset allocation and business generation. Amid very 

challenging conditions within Asian capital markets, the 

fair value of our proprietary investment has declined in 

the current financial year, but we are pleased to report a 

strong revenue growth in our advisory business, driven by 

the significant investments made over the past few years 

in relationships and talent.

Our vision on the outlook of China, India and the ASEAN 

economies remains bullish and we believe our sound and 

proven Asia Pacific focused investment strategy will ensure 

we achieve long-term goal and mission in capitalizing 

on the increasing cross border investment opportunities 

generated by ever increasing capital flows between China/

ASEAN economies and the rest of the world and we believe 

our recently opened Beijing representative office will 

enable our firm to benefit even more from these positive 

capital flows trends.

After decades of high economic growth, China is expected 

to continue on its robust economic development trajectory 

as a result of continuous stimulus policies to reignite 

its economy after its property market crisis and clear 

advantages over other major economies in terms of 

technology and infrastructure development and major 

governmental support policies such as the Belt and Road 

Initiative. In addition, Southeast Asia is likely to witness 

further growth led by strong economic performance of 

major regional economies such as Indonesia, Vietnam, 

Thailand and Malaysia as a result of their competitive 

demographics, strategic roles in regional and global 

economic development and a risk-justified investment 

destination. Therefore, the Asia Pacific region, led by 

China, India and the ASEAN economies, will remain the key 

growth engine for the world economy and will continue 

to offer the most significant cross-border investment 

opportunities in the near to mid-term for our international 

client base, at a time of global asset dislocation in the rest 

of the world.

We would like to thank the entire Phoenician team for a 

strong performance in 2023. Combining the long-term 

vision of our founder and the entrepreneurial culture 

of our team, we are committed to continue providing 

unparalleled, strategic, highly specialized investment 

solutions to our clients, focusing on meeting and achieving 

their long-term investment goals, while creating long-

term value for our shareholders.

Yours faithfully

Kwan Chan Yiu Man Lo James Stephen Barrie
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Phoenician International Limited, is the group holding 

company incorporated in the Cayman Islands in May 2012.

Phoenician Securities Limited (“Phoenician Securities” or 

“PS”) is a licensed corporation accredited by the Securities 

& Futures Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC”) to conduct 

Type 1 – Dealing in Securities activities with Central Entity 

Number (“CE No.”) BPY493 since May 2021.

Phoenician Advisory Services Limited (“Phoenician Advisory 

Services” or “PAS”) is a licensed corporation accredited the 

SFC to conduct Type 1 – Dealing in Securities and Type 6 – 

Advising on Corporate Finance activities with CE No. BIJ846 

since May 2017.

Phoenician Limited (“Phoenician Limited” or “PI”) is a 

licensed corporation accredited the SFC to conduct Type 4 

– Advising on Securities and Type 9 – Asset Management 

activities with CE No. BAL761 since September 2015 and 

March 2013 respectively.

PS, PAS, PI are all entities incorporated in Hong Kong.

Phoenician Services Limited (“Phoenician Services”) is 

a non-regulated entity incorporated in Hong Kong in 

December 2021.

We operate through three business units:  Wealth 

Management, Investment Management and Investment 

Banking, each with distinctive capabilities but managed in 

an integrated and client-centric fashion.

    The group structure of the Company is set out below:

Phoenician International Limited 
Cayman Islands

100%100%100%100%

Phoenician 
Limited, 

HK, CE BAL761

Phoenician 
Advisory 
Services 
Limited, 

HK, CE BIJ846

Phoenician 
Securities 
Limited, 

HK, CE BPY493

Phoenician 
Services 
Limited, 

HK
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GROUP STRUCTURE AND BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Wealth Management

Phoenician’s wealth management unit is specialised in 

advising a selected group of private and institutional 

clients including high net worth individuals and family 

offices to preserve and manage their wealth and achieve 

their financial goals.

Through its comprehensive suite of bespoken portfolio 

management solutions, Phoenician provides non-

d i s c r e t i o n a r y  i n v e s t m e n t  a d v i s o r y  s e r v i c e s  a n d 

discretionary portfolio management services. Phoenician 

Wealth Management also invests our own funds on 

selected investment strategies.

We derive management fees and net investment gains 

from our wealth management business.

Investment Management

Our investment management unit manages funds on 

behalf of our institutional and private clients under 

discretionary mandates to capture global investment 

opportunities across global markets, with specific focus on 

cash equity and equity derivative products across mining, 

life sciences and technology related sectors.

The investment management unit also deploys our own 

funds by investing in outstanding niche companies with 

the potential to be transformed into global leaders, 

through selected investments in private equity and 

public markets transactions. Phoenician’s multi-national 

investment team works across multiple industries with key 

focus on companies/issuers operating across China and 

ASEAN economies.

We derive management fees, performance fees and net 

investment gains from our investment management 

business.

Investment Banking

Our Investment Banking unit advises first-tier corporate 

clients on complex international transactions and global 

private and public fundraisings and provides sales, trading, 

brokerage and research services to our institutional and 

private clients.

Specifically, the Phoenician advisory team offers financial 

advice to corporate clients on acquisitions, divestitures 

and corporate restructuring and executes capital raising 

transactions, either through public offerings or through 

private placements.

In addition, through its broker/dealer and research 

platforms, Phoenician broking team offers its institutional 

and private clients the ability to execute transactions in 

cash equity and other selected investment products by 

providing global access to financial markets and trade 

facilitation services, supported by in-depth research 

coverages and reports on key investment topics.

We derive transaction fees, advisory fees and net 

investment gains from our investment banking business.
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For the Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

HK$‘000 HK$‘000
   

Total Revenue 5,969 3,192

Total Net Investment Loss (174,730) (179,765)

Total Operating Expenses (14,410) (19,736)

Total Operating Loss (183,171) (196,309)
   

  

For the Year Ended December 31,

Operating Loss by Segment 2023 2022

HK$‘000 HK$‘000
   

Business Segments

Wealth Management (33,247) (34,148)

Investment Management (109,133) (116,346)

Investment Banking (40,791) (45,815)
   

Total Operating Loss (183,171) (196,309)
   

  

For the Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

HK$‘000 HK$‘000
   

Client Assets

 – Assets Under Custody (AuC) 289,401 579,824
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We are a leading investment firm offering best-in-class 

advisory services and trading capabilities. By targeting the 

ever increasing cross-border investment opportunities 

with capital flows between China/ASEAN economies and 

the rest of the world we aim to understand how the world 

evolves and where the opportunities arise, so that we are 

able to quickly adapt and react to the evolving investment 

landscape.

De-Dollarization Trends

We continue our observation of a major de-dollarization 

move which will significantly weaken Western currencies 

over the mid to long term and accelerate inflationary 

pressures in the Western world.

We expect a weaker dollar than consensus forecast 

over the next 24 months, primarily due to deteriorated 

fundamentals and challenging economic outlook 

worldwide, which in turn will lead to higher CPIs and lower 

GDP growth in the US, EU and UK economies. Availability 

and rising influences of suitable alternative currencies has 

also played an important role.

• Geopolitical tension and regional conflicts are 

prolonged, casting increased uncertainties.

• The turbulence seen in the western banking industry 

has shattered investors’ confidence in the system 

with profound consequence.

• Sanctions imposed by western countries against 

Russia on a comprehensive basis, including trade 

bans, confiscation/freezing of assets and limiting 

access to SWIFT payment system has induced 

other nations to develop new payment means 

and alternative settlement currencies to minimise 

potential threat to their national interests.

In a bid to reduce the reliance on the dollar and saving 

international transaction costs, an increasing number 

of countries, including Saudi Arabia, Iran, and Brazil 

have reached separate agreements with China to use 

yuan and their own currencies in bilateral trade, while 

other countries such as Russia, China and Indonesia are 

developing each of their own payment systems, further 

contributing to the de-dollarization trend.



13Annual Report 2023

Inflation Remains in Focus

Inflation is expected to slow down by most economists and 

analysts and likely to settle in 2024 amid wide expectation 

that Fed rate cut could be expected mid-year.

However, we believe rate cuts may come much later. 

Fragmented supply chains are likely to still play a role in 

2024 and drive up inflation. Hefty government spending 

will also keep rates higher and global attempts to control 

rising labour cost and bring it back to pre-COVID levels 

will be challenging. Prolonged geopolitical tensions and 

regional conflicts, coupled with a weakened USD forecast 

will also likely drive inflation.

US & China Inflation Trend and Forecast

2019                2020                2021                2022               2023                2024               2025

9%

7%

5%

3%

1%

-1%

US Inflation (Actual)                
US Inflation (Fore cast)                

China Inflation (Actual)
China Inflation (Fore cast)

China Recovery

There is no doubt that the global economy is slowing. 

Consensus is out on lowering the GDP growth rate forecast 

to sub 3% level. However, we do not believe that the 

global economy is collapsing either. China, which is 

expected to grow slower too, will still grow at a new 

normal of above 5%.

Moreover, with China’s recent announcement of its 5.2% 

GDP growth in 2023, the economic outlook of China might 

just not be as dire as many thought, and in fact, it can 

be anticipated that with the new measures by China to 

promote economic development and reignite of growth 

engine. The true potential of China is evolving in the tough 

environment of 2024.

Despite speculation on China’s economy’s failure to secure 

a sustained recovery, China’s actual growth in 2023 may 

just prove that these speculations and many economists 

and analysts view are overly bearish.

Multiple Shining Stars in the Asia Pacific

More broadly, we believe that Asia Pacific market as a 

whole will grow beyond the current level in the next 12-

24 months.

India’s growth potential reflects an expanding middle 

class, digitization and, especially, favorable demographics. 

India’s labor supply will likely increase steadily until the 

2030s, and because labor supply is strongly linked to 

output, this gives it a long runway to deliver sustained high 

rates of economic growth. Data over the past two decades 

indicate show that India’s economic growth and equity 

market returns follow closely.
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Southeast Asia is likely to witness further growth led 

by strong economic performance of major regional 

economies such as Indonesia, Vietnam, Thailand and 

Malaysia. Indonesia recorded an almost 10% nominal 

GDP growth in 2023 and its equity market is set to follow 

the momentum after an 8% growth in the last 12 months. 

Vietnam is projected to achieve a 6-6.5% growth in GDP in 

2024 as it aims to revive its Southeast Asian manufacturing 

hub status.

Nominal GDP and Equity Market Return of Major ASEAN 

Economies (2023)

Source: Bloomberg
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We expect monetary policy to stay the course to restore 

price stability in Western economies, with a limited 

accommodation from fiscal policy to alleviate the cost-

of-living pressures, to maintain a sufficiently tight stance 

aligned with monetary policy to fight inflation.

Geopolitics and Potential uncertainties

The war in Ukraine has triggered a costly series of crisis and 

economic damages from the conflict will contribute to a 

significant slowdown in global growth in 2023 and add 

to inflation. Fuel and food prices have increased rapidly. 

Global growth has slowed down from an estimated 6.0% 

in 2021 to 3.2% in 2022 and 2.1% 2023. Beyond 2023, 

global growth is forecast to remain well below 3% over 

the medium term. War-induced commodity price increases 

and broadening price pressures have led to 2022 inflation 

projections of 5.7% in advanced economies and an 

additional 6.5% in 2023.

The crisis in Israel against Hamas is yet another big 

challenge for the global energy market and economic 

prosperity. Global oil market prices have climbed for a 

consecutive period of more than 4 months since 7 October 

attack. Although oil and gas flows from the Middle East 

have remained relatively unscathed despite the Israeli-

Palestinian conflict and the recent rise in oil and gas prices 

has been fueled by fears that exports from the energy rich 

region could be disrupted, impact on international freight 

time and cost across the Suez cannel and the Red Sea is 

inevitable.
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Amid the highly uncertain global environment, risks to 

financial stability have increased substantially. Increasing 

uncertainties are affecting all asset classes. The challenging 

macroeconomic environment is also putting pressure on 

the global corporate sector. In addition, financial conditions 

have tightened as central banks globally delayed their 

rates cuts in reaction to the prolonged and persistent 

inflation.

Therefore, by taking all above into consideration, the 

market expects a long term policy rate above 3% for the 

next decade, a constant challenge for fighting inflation. 

However, we expect policy rates to be above 4% for the 

next 12-36 months.

In conclusion, major issues facing financial markets include 

inflation at multi-decade highs, continuing deterioration 

of the economic outlooks in many regions, and persistent 

geopolitical risks in the overall economic environment. 

Global markets are showing strains as investors have 

recently become more risk-averse amid heightened 

economic and policy uncertainty. Financial asset prices 

have fallen as monetary policy has tightened, the economic 

outlook has deteriorated, recession fears have grown, 

borrowing in hard currency has become more expensive, 

and stress in some nonbank financial institutions has 

accelerated. Bond yields are rising broadly across credit 

ratings, with borrowing costs for many countries and 

companies already rising to the highest levels in a decade 

or more. However, by focusing on economies that are most 

likely to quickly recover from this global difficult period, 

it will also be an opportunity for Phoenician to set our 

investment priorities right, as we did in the past.
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In the two reporting periods, the group operated 

through three reportable operating segments (a) 

wealth management; (b) investment management; (c) 

investment banking. All three segments have experienced 

positive revenue but a significant slowdown in growth. 

However, operating profit remained negative for the year 

ended December 31, 2023, mainly due to significant net 

investment losses during the year.

Wealth management 

The Company’s wealth management business unit is 

specialised in advising a select group of private and 

institutional clients, including high net worth individuals 

and family offices,  to preserve and manage their 

wealth and achieve their financial goals. Through its 

comprehensive suite of bespoke portfolio management 

solutions, the Company provides non-discretionary 

investment advisory services and discretionary portfolio 

management services. The wealth management business 

unit also invests funds in selected investment strategies.

Investment management 

The investment management business unit manages 

discretionary accounts on behalf of institutional and private 

clients under discretionary mandates to capture global 

investment opportunities across global markets, leveraging 

on both of Phoenician’s investment professionals and best-

of-breeds external investment managers. The investment 

management business unit also deploys Phoenician 

funds through selected investments in private equity and 

public market transactions. Phoenician’s multi-national 

investment team works across multiple industries with a 

key focus on companies/ issuers operating across China 

and ASEAN economies. 

Investment banking 

Phoenician’s investment banking unit advises first-tier 

corporate clients on complex international transactions 

and global private and public fundraisings and provides 

sales, trading, brokerage and research services to its 

institutional and private clients. Specifically, the Phoenician 

advisory team offers financial advice to corporate clients 

on acquisitions, divestitures and corporate restructuring 

and executes capital raising transactions, either through 

public offerings or through private placements. In addition, 

through its broker/dealer and research platforms, the 

Phoenician broking team offers its institutional and private 

clients the ability to execute trades in cash equity and 

other selected investment products by providing global 

access to financial markets and trade facilitation services, 

supported by in-depth research coverages and reports on 

key investment topics.

In particular, in 2023 wealth management and investment 

management revenues remained flat, while investment 

banking revenues nearly doubled as a result of a strong 

performance by our advisory business. In addition, due 

to deterioration in global economic conditions and 

in particular, tough market environment faced by the 

investment management business, net investment losses 

on our own invested funds recorded a total of HKD 173.97 

million, though these losses are essentially unrealized 

changes in fair value of financial assets based on financial 

test, and are not realized cash losses. As a result, on a 

consolidated basis, our group also has a negative operating 

profit of HKD 183.17 million for the year ended December 

31, 2023, down slightly from a negative operating profit of 

HKD 196.31 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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The main contributor to such losses is the change in fair 

value of PYX Resources Limited shares held by the group, 

whose share price experienced a correction in the past 12 

months due to increased volatility in mining companies 

share price performance globally. PYX Resources Limited 

holds the world third largest producing deposit of Zircon in 

terms of inferred resources. Despite the significant market 

correction in its share price, the fundamentals of the 

PYX Resources Limited remain robust, with zircon strong 

volume increase reported in 2023.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of revenue 

and net investment loss by reporting segment for the years 

indicated.

    

For the Year Ended December 31,

Revenue 2023 2022 Change Change

HKD ‘000 HKD ‘000 HKD ‘000 %
     

Business Segments

Wealth Management 40 40 0 0%

Investment Management 47 47 0 0%

Investment Banking 5,882 3,105 2,777 89.44%
     

Total Revenue 5,969 3,192 2,777 87.00%
     

    

For the Year Ended December 31,

Net Investment Loss 2023 2022 Change Change

HKD ‘000 HKD ‘000 HKD ‘000 %
     

Business Segments

Wealth Management (30,535) (31,712) 1,177 (3.71%)

Investment Management (102,740) (104,415) 1,675 (1.60%)

Investment Banking (41,455) (43,638) 2,183 (5.00%)
     

Total Net Investment Loss (174,730) (179,765) 5,035 (2.80%)
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For the Year Ended December 31,

Revenue & Net Inv. Loss 2023 2022 Change Change

HKD ‘000 HKD ‘000 HKD ‘000 %
     

Business Segments

Wealth Management (30,495) (31,672) 1,177 (3.72%)

Investment Management (102,693) (104,368) 1,675 (1.60%)

Investment Banking (35,573) (40,533) 4,960 (12.24%)
     

Total Revenue & Net Inv. Loss (168,761) (176,573) 7,812 (4.42%)
     

The following table sets forth a breakdown of operating expenses by reporting segment for the years indicated.

    

For the Year Ended December 31,

Operating Expenses 2023 2022 Change Change

HKD ‘000 HKD ‘000 HKD ‘000 %
     

Business Segments

Wealth Management (2,752) (2,476) (276) 11.15%

Investment Management (6,440) (11,978) 5,538 (46.23)%

Investment Banking (5,218) (5,282) 64 (1.21)%
     

Total Operating Expenses (14,410) (19,736) 5,326 (26.99)%
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of operating loss by reporting segment for the years indicated.

    

For the Year Ended December 31,

Operating Loss 2023 2022 Change Change

HKD ‘000 HKD ‘000 HKD ‘000 %
     

Business Segments

Wealth Management (33,247) (34,148) 901 (2.64%)

Investment Management (109,133) (116,346) 7,213 (6.20%)

Investment Banking (40,791) (45,815) 5,024 (10.97%)
     

Total Operating Loss (183,171) (196,309) 13,138 (6.69%)
     

Segment Revenues and Net Investment Loss

Our Wealth Management segment recorded a weak 

performance for the year ended December 31, 2023 with 

a total net investment loss of HKD 30.5 million, slightly 

down from a net investment loss of HKD 31.7 million in 

the previous year, primarily due to changes in fair value of 

financial assets based on financial test.

Our Investment Management segment concluded the year 

with a significant total net investment loss of HKD 102.7 

million for the year ended December 31, 2023 (2022: 

HKD104.4 million). The net investment losses from the 

investment management business mainly represents fair 

value loss of financial assets based on financial test.

Our Investment Banking segment recorded a strong 

performance for the year ended December 31, 2023 with a 

total revenue of HKD 5.9 million, up from HKD 3.1 million in 

the previous year. This increase in revenues was primarily 

due to increase in financial advisory business. However, 

the increase in revenues was offset by a significant net 

investment loss of HKD 41.5 million as a result of fair value 

loss of financial assets based on financial test.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Segment Operating Expenses

Operating expenses for the Wealth Management segment 

increased from HKD 2.5 million to HKD 2.8 million, as a 

result of increased personnel expenses.

For the Investment Management segment, however, we 

recorded a larger decrease in operating expenses from 

HKD 12.0 million to HKD 6.4 million due to reversal of 

allowance for expected credit loss on other receivables.

For the Investment Banking segment, segment operating 

expenses almost the same as last year HKD 5.2 million.

Segment Operating Loss

All our business segments experienced significant losses in 

the year ended December 31, 2023.

Our Wealth Management segment recorded a net 

operating loss of HKD 33.2 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2023, down from a net operating loss of 

HKD 34.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Our Investment Management segment recorded an 

operating loss of HKD 109.1 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2023, down from an operating loss of HKD 

116.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Investment Banking segment recorded an operating 

loss of HKD 40.8 million for the year ended December 31, 

2023, down from an operating loss of HKD 45.8 million for 

the year ended December 31, 2022.

KEY BUSINESS DRIVERS AND METRICS

Each of our three business segments has unique business 

fundamentals and faces different risks. As a result, we 

identify different drivers for each of the three segments.

For our Wealth Management segment, the key business 

driver is the Assets under Advisory (AuA). This is the total 

assets on which we provide wealth advisory, and can be 

held in custody by us or by third party.
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For our Investment Management segment, the key business 

driver is the Assets under Management (AuM) metric, which 

is the aggregate amount of net asset value of securities and 

investment products for which Phoenician has provided 

discretionary investment management services to our 

clients as investment advisor or as investment manager.

For our Investment Banking segment, the key business 

driver is the Assets under Custody (AuC) metric, which is the 

total value of all financial assets which we hold on behalf 

of our clients as broker/custodian.

The following table sets forth the key metrics our segments 

activities as of the dates indicated.

  

For the Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
   

Key Business Drivers

 – Assets Under Management (AuM) 89,663 277,838

 – Assets Under Advisory (AuA) 15,600 15,600

 – Assets Under Custody (AuC) 289,401 579,824
   

As of December 31, 2023, Phoenician had approximately 

HK$289 million of asset under custody for our Investment 

Banking unit, HK$16 million of asset under advisory for our 

Wealth Management unit and HK$90 million of asset under 

management within our Investment Management unit, 

including financial assets held by the group.

The decreases in AuM and AuC are mainly due to changes in 

fair value of financial assets based on financial test.
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Your directors present their  report on Phoenician 

International Limited (“PHI” or the “Company”) and its 

controlled entities, (the “Group”) for the financial year 

ended 31 December 2023.

The names of Directors of the Company, in office at any 

time during the period and up to the date of this report, are 

set out below. Directors were in office for this entire period 

unless otherwise stated.

Kwan Chan (Executive Chair) - appointed 24 April 2020.

Yiu Man Lo (Independent Non-Executive Director) - 

appointed 22 April 2022.

James S. Barrie (Independent Non-Executive Director and 

Company Secretary) - appointed 15 July 2022.

The length of service of each director is as follows:

  

Name Length of Service
  

Kwan Chan 44 months

Yiu Man Lo 20 months

James S. Barrie 17 months
  

Kwan Chan (Executive Chair)

Mr Chan, Executive Director of Phoenician, has more than 

15 years of experience in the financial service industry.

Mr Chan joined Phoenician in 2012 as the Finance Director, 

and since his appointment has taken charge of the Group 

treasury operations and has led all the financial reporting 

activities. In 2020, Mr Chan was promoted to the role 

of Executive Director, in charge of implementing the 

Company’s founder strategic vision and growth plans, 

handling relationship with Shareholders and overall 

business leadership across the business units. Under the 

leadership of Mr Chan, the Company has substantially 

developed its private equity investment business.

Prior to joining Phoenician, Mr Chan was a Senior 

Accountant at North China Shipping Holdings Company 

Limited, where he was responsible for the group finance 

and accounting function. Mr Chan started his career at 

Intertrust HK Ltd as a consultant in their Corporate Client 

Services.

Mr Chan holds a Bachelor of Business Administration 

(Finance) degree from City University of Hong Kong.

Yiu Man Lo (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Mr Lo, Non-Executive Director of Phoenician, has more than 

20 years of experience in the financial service industry.

Up to November 2021, Mr Lo was the Senior Finance 

Manager at uSmart Securities Limited, a large retail focused 

securities firm in Hong Kong.

Previously Mr Lo held various senior positions at various 

financial services firms in Hong Kong, including CMBC 

Capital Holding Limited, Core Pacific Yamaichi International 

(H.K.) Limited, China Securities (International) Finance 

Holdings Company Limited, Bank of China International 

(Holdings) Limited, Standard Chartered Bank and East Asia 

(Securities) Company Limited, a subsidiary of Bank of East 

Asia Company Limited.

Mr Lo holds a Bachelor of Science (Honours) in Applied 

Mathematics from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, a 

Master of Science in Mathematics for Finance and Actuarial 

Sciences from the City University of Hong Kong and a Master 

in Corporate Governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic 

University and is a Qualified CPA in Australia.



23Annual Report 2023

James S. Barrie (Independent Non-Executive 
Director and Company Secretary)

Mr Barrie, Non-Executive Director and Company Secretary 

of Phoenician, has more than 20 years of professional 

experience in a wide range of executive and board roles 

across multiple industries.

Mr Barrie is currently a Non-Executive Director and 

Company Secretary for A2A GN Ltd (NSX:A2A) and West 

Coast Aquaculture Group Limited (SSX:833), the Company 

Secretary for TTA Holdings Ltd (ASX:TTA), Boadicea 

Resources Ltd (ASX:BOA), Global Health Ltd (ASX:GLH) and 

Jupiter Energy Ltd (ASX:JPR), along with being a director 

and/or Company Secretary for several unlisted companies.

Mr Barrie is also the founder of Fernville Group, which 

provides professional advisory services to pre-IPO and 

small-cap listed companies seeking to list on Australian 

exchanges.

Mr Barrie is a graduate of the Australian Institute of 

Company Directors, and holds a Bachelor of Business from 

the Queensland University of Technology and a Diploma of 

Investor Relations from the Australian Investor Relations 

Association.

Directors’ Shareholdings

The following table sets out each current Director’s 

relevant interest in shares of the Company or a related 

body corporate as at the date of this report.

 

Company Directors Ordinary Shares
  
Kwan Chan 16,500

Yiu Man Lo 16,500

James S. Barrie 2,000
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Unissued Shares and Options

During the year the Company offered Nil (2022: 320,000) Performance Rights which were eventually granted in January 

2023, out of which 100,000 Performance Rights were awarded to directors. Of the total Performance Rights on issue, 

33,000 Performance Rights (2022: Nil) were vested during the year.

     

Company Directors

Performance Rights 

Opening Balance

Received 

During Year

Converted/

Expired Closing Balance
      
Kwan Chan 2023 — 50,000 — 50,000

2022 — — — —

Yiu Man Lo 2023 — 50,000 — 50,000

2022 — — — —

James S. Barrie 2023 — — — —

2022 — — — —
      

During the December 2023 financial year, the Company 

issued no options (2022: Nil).

Performance Rights and Option holders do not have 

any rights to participate in any issues of shares or other 

interests of the Company or any other entity.

Dividends

No dividend has been paid during the financial year and no 

dividend is recommended for the current period.
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Directors’ Meetings

The table below sets out the number of Directors’ meetings held during the period and the number of meetings attended 

by each as a Director.

  

Name No. Eligible to Attend No. Attended
   

Board Meetings

Kwan Chan 3 3

Yiu Man Lo 3 3

James S. Barrie 3 3

Audit and Risk Committee Meetings

Kwan Chan 1 1

Yiu Man Lo 1 1

James S. Barrie 1 1

People and Remuneration Committee Meetings

Kwan Chan 1 1

Yiu Man Lo 1 1

James S. Barrie 1 1
   

Principal Activities

The principal  activit ies  of  the Group (through its 

subsidiar ies)  is  to  provide wealth management, 

investment management and investment banking services 

to a select group of private, institutional and corporate 

clients, focusing on capitalizing on the increasing cross 

border investment flows between China/ASEAN economies 

and the rest of the world.

Review and Results of Operations

The loss after income tax and other comprehensive income 

of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 was 

approximately HK$183,171,000 (2022: HK$196,309,000).

A detailed review of the operations of the Group is set out 

on page 16.

Contractual risks 

The Group is a party to various contracts. Whilst the 

Company will have various contractual rights in the event 

of non-compliance by a contracting party, no assurance 

can be given that all contracts to which the Company is 

a party will be fully performed by all contracting parties. 

Additionally, no assurance can be given that if a contracting 

party does not comply with any contractual provisions, the 

Company will be successful in securing compliance.

Investment risk 

The Group’s investment portfolio consists of a significant 

number of shares in PYX Resources Limited (NSX: PYX; LSE: 

PYX). As a result, the Company may be vulnerable to events 

that affect the value of these shares. 
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Climate Risk

As the Group operating activities and investments are 

diverse and global in nature, the group business is exposed 

to climate risk, defined as the potential for negative 

consequences for human or ecological systems from the 

impacts of climate change. 

Cybersecurity risk

Due to the need to retain and process digital archives, the 

Group is also exposed to cybersecurity risk, defined as the 

potential for exposure or loss resulting from a cyberattack 

or data breach on our organization. 

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs

Other than as discussed in the Review of Operations and 

noted below, the most significant change in the Company’s 

state of affairs during the period is that the reduction of net 

asset value from HK$208 million to HK$26 million.

Events After the Reporting Period

(a) Shares issued for exercising of Performance 
Rights

106,000 ordinary shares of the Company were issued 

for exercising of Performance Rights at consideration 

of HK$ Nil on 3 January 2024.

(b) Financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss

On the date of authorisation of this annual report, 

the market value of the financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss has declined by approximately 

HK$16,354,000 compared with the market value as 

at 31 December 2023, which resulted in fair value 

losses of HK$16,354,000.
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Likely Developments and Results

The Directors believe that likely developments in the 

preparations of the Group and expected return from the 

operations have been adequately disclosed in this report.

Proceedings on Behalf of the Company

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of 

the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings 

on behalf of the Company or its controlled entities, or to 

intervene in any proceedings to which the Company or its 

controlled entities are a party, for the purposes of taking 

responsibility on behalf of the Company or its controlled 

entities for all or part of those proceedings.

Indemnifying Officers and Auditors

The Group has not, during or since the financial year, 

indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of 

the Group against a liability incurred as such an officer or 

auditor.

Non-Audit Services

An amount of HK$250,000 (2022: HK$250,000) was paid 

to the external auditor during the year for non-audit 

services. The Directors are satisfied that any non-audit 

services provided during the year ended 31 December 

2023 did not compromise the general principles relating 

to auditor independence in accordance with International 

Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics 

for Professional Accountants and is compatible general 

standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 

Corporations Act 2001.

The directors was being satisfied with the provision 

of those non-audit services, during the year, by the 

auditor did not compromise the auditor independence 

requirements of this Act.

Other Compliance with NSX Listing Rules

No published forecast has been made, hence NSX Listing 

Rule 6.9(4) does not apply.

Directors of the Company each have service agreements. In 

accordance with Rule 27 of the Company’s Memorandum 

of Association, directors appointed by the Company must 

retire and, being eligible, stand for re-election at the next 

Annual General Meeting (“AGM) of the Company. Further, 

a minimum of 1/3rd of directors must retire by rotation at 

each AGM.

No arrangement has been made under which a director 

has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments.

N o  a r r a n g e m e n t  h a s  b e e n  m a d e  u n d e r  w h i c h  a 

shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

As this is not the first year the Group has traded, a 2-year 

summary table is applicable.

This report is presented in accordance with a resolution of 

the Board of Directors and is signed for and on behalf of 

the Directors by:

Kwan Chan

Executive Chair

Hong Kong, 8 March 2024
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REMUNERATION REPORT

The Remuneration Report sets out the remuneration 

arrangements for Phoenician International Limited (the 

“Company”) and its controlled entities (the “Group”) for 

year ended 31 December 2023. The Remuneration Report 

forms part of the Directors’ Report.

The remuneration report is set out under the following 

main headings:

A. Remuneration Philosophy

B. Remuneration Structure

C. Remuneration Approvals

D. Remuneration and Performance

E. Details of KMPs’ Remuneration

F. Compensation Performance Rights and Options 

Granted, Exercised, Converted or Lapsed During the 

Financial Year

G. Share-based Compensation

H. E q u i t y  I n s t r u m e n t s  I s s u e d  o n  E x e r c i s e  o f 

Remuneration Performance Rights and Options

I. Other Transactions with KMP and/or their Related 

Parties

J. Shareholding of KMP

The remuneration arrangements detailed in this report are 

for the Executive Chair, Chief Executive Officer and Non- 

Executive Directors during the financial year as follows:

• Kwan Chan (Executive Chair)

• Marco Arosti (Chief Executive Officer)

• Yiu Man Lo (Independent Non-Executive Director)

• James S. Barrie (Independent Non-Executive Director 

and Company Secretary)

This will be the Remuneration Report to be submitted by 

the Company for approval at the Annual General Meeting.

A. Remuneration Philosophy

Key management personnel (“KMP”) have authority 

and responsibility for planning, directing and 

controlling the activities of the Group. KMP comprise 

the Directors of the Company and its Chief Executive 

Officer. The performance of the Group depends upon 

the quality of its KMP. To prosper, the Group must 

attract, motivate and retain appropriately skilled 

directors and executives.

The Group’s broad remuneration policy is to ensure 

the remuneration package properly reflects the 

person’s duties and responsibilities and that 

remuneration is competitive in attracting, retaining, 

and motivating people of the highest quality. During 

the year, the Company adopted a Stock Incentive 

Plan to:

a. establish a method by which directors or 

employees of the Company and its subsidiaries 

(Eligible Persons) can participate in the future 

growth and profitability of the Company;
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b. provide an incentive and reward for Eligible 

Persons for their contributions to the Company; 

and

c. a t t r a c t  a n d  r e t a i n  a  h i g h  s t a n d a r d  o f 

managerial and technical personnel for the 

benefit of the Company.

Performance rights were offered to Mr Kwan Chan 

(50,000 Performance Rights) and Mr Yiu Man Lo 

(50,000 Performance Rights) under the Employee 

Stock Incentive Plan which were accepted in January 

2023.

The Performance rights will vest in 3 tranches 

(31 December 2023, 31 December 2024 and 31 

December 2025), subject to continuous employment 

of the Eligible Persons.

Of the total Performance rights on issue to the two 

directors, zero Performance Rights were converted to 

shares during the year ended on 31 December 2023. 

No other remuneration performance rights, options 

or shares have been issued to KMP.

A remuneration consultant has not been employed 

by the Group to provide recommendations in respect 

of the remuneration, given the size of the Group and 

its current structure.

B. Remuneration Structure

 Executive Chair

The Group has entered into an agreement with Mr 

Chan for the purposes of discharging his role as 

Executive Chair. Under the agreement, Mr Chan is 

entitled to a base remuneration of HK$1,050,000 per 

annum (including employer contributions required 

to be paid in accordance with the Mandatory 

Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (chapter 485 

of the Laws of Hong Kong)) and in addition he 

will receive a director fee equal to AU$20,000 per 

annum. Starting from 1 January 2024, Mr Chan base 

remuneration was increased to HK$1,102,500 per 

annum and in addition he will receive a director fee 

equal to AU$20,000 per annum.

Chief Executive Officer

The Group has entered into an agreement with 

Mr Arosti, for the purposes of discharging his role 

as Chief Executive Officer. Under this agreement, 

Mr Arosti is entitled to a base remuneration of 

US$350,000 per annum (including employer 

contributions required to be paid in accordance with 

the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance 

(chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong)). Starting 

from 1 January 2024, Mr Arosti base remuneration 

will increase to USD375,000 per annum.
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Non-Executive Directors

There are formal agreements with the Non-

Executive Directors. Appointment shall cease if a 

non-executive director is not re-elected as a director 

by shareholders, resigns or ends their term in 

accordance with the Company’s Constitution.

On 22 April 2022, Mr Lo entered into an agreement 

with the Company confirming his appointment 

as Non-Executive Director of the Company. The 

agreement is in standard form and details the 

nature of Mr Lo’s appointment, his duties and his 

remuneration. Mr Lo is entitled to receive a total 

annual fee of AU$20,000 paid quarterly in arrears. 

This fee covers all duties Mr Lo may be required to 

perform, Mr Lo is also entitled to be paid expenses 

properly and reasonably incurred in performing 

duties as Director.

On 15 July 2022, Mr Barrie entered into an agreement 

with the Company confirming his appointment as 

Non-Executive Director and a services agreement 

confirming his appointment as Company Secretary of 

the Company. Both agreements are in standard form 

and detail the nature of Mr Barrie’s appointments, 

his duties and his remuneration. Mr Barrie is entitled 

to receive a total annual fee of AU$20,000 paid 

quarterly in arrears for his role as Non-Executive 

Director. This fee covers all duties Mr Barrie may be 

required to perform, Mr Barrie is also entitled to be 

paid expenses properly and reasonably incurred in 

performing duties as Director. Mr Barrie is entitled to 

receive a total annual fee of AU$5,000 (AU$10,000 

starting from the first anniversary of his appointment 

as Company Secretary), paid monthly in arrears for 

his role as Company Secretary. This fee covers all 

duties Mr Barrie may be required to perform. Services 

provided out of scope of duties are to be charged at 

AU$175 per hour (excluding GST).

No other agreements with KMP or their controlled 

entities during the financial year have been entered 

into.

The Group currently does not offer any variable 

remuneration incentive plans or bonus schemes to 

Non-Executive Directors or any retirement benefits 

and, as such, there are no performance related links 

to the existing remuneration policies.

Performance Rights are normally awarded to eligible 

participants based on individual achievements and 

performance contribution to the group, on the basis 

of recommendations by the Remuneration and 

Nomination Committee.

C. Remuneration Approvals

The Board of Directors approved to grant the 

performance rights under the Company’s Stock 

Incentive Plan. These performance rights were set at 

levels to reflect market conditions and non-market 

conditions and to encourage continued service.

D. Remuneration and Performance

None of the remuneration package of the Executive 

Chair, Chief Executive Officer and the Non-Executive 

Director remuneration are currently not linked 

to either long-term or short-term performance 

conditions. The Board is of the view that current 

remuneration is a sufficient, long-term incentive 

to align the goals of the Directors with those of the 

shareholders to maximise shareholder wealth, and 

as such, has not set any performance conditions for 

Executive Chair, Chief Executive Officer and the Non-

Executive Directors of the Company. The Board will 

continue to monitor this policy to ensure that it is 

appropriate for the Group in future years.
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E. Details of KMPs’ Remuneration

         

Short-Term Long-term

Share-based 

Payments TOTAL

% 

performance 

related

2023

Salary 

fees

Employer’s

contribution to 

a retirement

benefit

scheme

Cash 

bonus Non-monetary Other fees

Incentive 

plans
          
Directors

Kwan Chan HK$ 1,050,000 HK$ 18,000 — — — — HK$ 204,580 HK$ 1,272,580 —

AU$ 20,000 — — — — — — AU$ 20,000 —

Yiu Man Lo AU$ 20,000 — — — — — — AU$ 20,000 —

— — — — — — HK$ 204,580 HK$ 204,580 —

James S. Barrie AU$ 27,600 — — — — — — AU$ 27,600 —
          
Other KMP

Marco Arosti HK$ 2,730,000 HK$ 18,000 — — — — — HK$ 2,748,000 —
          

         

Short-Term Long-term

Share-based 

Payments TOTAL

% 

performance 

related

2022

Salary 

fees

Employer’s

contribution to 

a retirement

benefit

scheme

Cash 

bonus Non-monetary Other fees

Incentive 

plans
          
Directors

Kwan Chan HK$ 960,000* HK$ 15,000 — — — — — HK$ 975,000 —

Yiu Man Lo AU$ 20,000** — — — — — — AUD 20,000 —

James S. Barrie AU$ 25,000** — — — — — — AUD 25,000 —
          
Other KMP

Marco Arosti HK$ 2,502,500* HK$ 15,000 — — — — — HK$ 2,517,500 —
          

* Including compensation by Phoenician Management Services Limited which has entered into a management service agreement with the 

group subsidiaries for the provision of their services to the group.
** Annualized Compensation
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F. Compensation Performance Rights and 
Options Granted, Exercised, Converted or 
Lapsed During the Financial Year

Performance rights were offered to Mr Kwan Chan 

(50,000 Performance Rights) and Mr Yiu Man Lo 

(50,000 Performance Rights) under the Employee 

Stock Incentive Plan which were accepted in January 

2023.

There were no options issued to Directors as part of 

their remuneration in the past 12 months. There were 

no compensation options that were exercised or 

lapsed during the year. There were no compensation 

options issued or outstanding during 2023 or 2022.

G. Share-based Compensation

The Company may reward Directors for their 

performance and align their remuneration with 

the creation of shareholder wealth by issuing 

performance rights, share options and/or shares. 

Share-based compensation is at the discretion of the 

Board and no individual has a contractual right to 

participate in any share-based plan or to receive any 

guaranteed benefits. No share-based compensation 

in respect of KMP occurred during the 2023 financial 

year, with the exception of the Performance Rights 

offered to Mr Kwan Chan and Mr Yiu Man Lo as 

mentioned above.

(i) Performance Rights

Performance rights were offered to Mr Kwan 

Chan (50,000 Performance Rights) and Mr Yiu 

Man Lo (50,000 Performance Rights) under the 

Employee Stock Incentive Plan.

(ii) Options

There were no options granted to Directors 

during the financial year, nor were shares 

issued upon exercise of options. As at the date 

of this report there are no director options on 

issue and no options have been exercised.

(iii) Shares

No Shares were issued to KMPs during the 

financial year upon conversion of performance 

rights.

(iv) Link to Performance

The Company did not implement any variable 

remuneration incentive plan for the KMP 

during the year by issuing performance rights, 

except for the performance rights mentioned 

in this section. The Company does not offer any 

other variable remuneration incentive plans or 

bonus schemes to KMP.

H. Equity Instruments Issued on Exercise of 
Remuneration Performance Rights and 
Options

No shares were issued during the financial year to 

KMP as a result of exercising remuneration options.

I. Other Transactions with KMP and/or their 
Related Parties

No other transactions with KMP and/or related 

parties were undertaken during the year ended on 

31 December 2023, except what has been disclosed 

on note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
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J. Shareholding of KMP

The number of shares in the Company held by KMP of the Company, including their associated entities at the end of 

the financial year are as follows:

     

Company KMPs

Opening 

Balance

Received During 

Year on Exercise 

of Performance 

Rights

Net Change 

Other

Closing 

Balance
      

Kwan Chan ED — — — —

Yiu Man Lo NED — — — —

James S. Barrie NED 2,000 — — 2,000

Marco Arosti* CEO 9,800,000 — — 9,800,000
      

* Held through fully owned investment vehicle High Noble Investments Limited

Corporate Governance

The Board of Directors of Phoenician International Limited 

(the “Company” or “PHI”) is responsible for the corporate 

governance of the Company. The Board guides and 

monitors the business and affairs of PHI on behalf of the 

shareholders, by whom they are elected and to whom they 

are accountable.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based 

on principles and recommendations set out in Corporate 

Governance Council’s Principles and Recommendations 

(4th edition) issued by the Australian Securities Exchange 

(“ASX”)  Corporate Governance Council .  Corporate 

Governance Council’s principles are summarised as 

follows:

Principle 1 Lay solid foundations for management 

and oversight

Principle 2 Structure the board to be effective and 

add value

Principle 3 Instill  a culture of acting lawfully, 

ethically and responsibly

Principle 4 Safeguard the integrity of corporate 

reports

Principle 5 Make timely and balanced disclosure

Principle 6 Respect the rights of security holders

Principle 7 Recognise and manage risk

Principle 8 Remunerate fairly and responsibly
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This statement outlines the main corporate governance 

practices in place during the year ended 31 December 

2023, which comply with the ASX Corporate Governance 

Council recommendations, except where noted.

This Corporate Governance Statement is current as at 31 

December 2023 and has been adopted by the Board.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance 

of the Company. The Board develops strategies for the 

Company, reviews strategic objectives, and monitors 

performance against those objectives. The goals of the 

corporate governance processes are to:

• maintain and increase Shareholder value;

• ensure a prudential and ethical basis for the 

Company’s conduct and activities; and

• ensure compliance with the Company’s legal and 

regulatory objectives.

In order to be consistent with these goals, the Board 

assumes the following responsibilities:

• to develop initiatives for profit and asset growth;

• to review the corporate, commercial and financial 

performance of the Company on a regular basis;

• to act on behalf of, and being accountable to, the 

Shareholders; and

• to identify business risks and implementing actions 

to manage those risks and corporate systems to 

assure quality.

The Company is committed to the circulation of relevant 

materials to Directors in a timely manner to facilitate 

Directors’ participation in the Board discussions on a fully-

informed basis.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

Election of Board members is substantially the province 

of the Shareholders in general meeting. However, subject 

thereto, the Company is committed to the following 

principles:

• the Board is to comprise persons with a blend of 

skills, experience and attributes appropriate for the 

Company and its business; and

• the principal criterion for the appointment of new 

directors is their ability to add value to the Company 

and its business.

The Board currently comprises two non-executive directors 

and one executive director. Where a casual vacancy arises 

during the year, the Board has procedures to select the 

most suitable candidate with the appropriate experience 

and expertise to ensure a balanced and effective Board. 

Any Director appointed during the year to fill a casual 

vacancy or as an addition to the Board, holds office until 

the next general meeting and is then eligible for re-

election by the Shareholders.

Each Director has confirmed to the Company that he 

anticipates being available to perform his duties as a non- 

executive director or executive director without constraint 

from other commitments.

The Directors consider an independent Director to be 

a non-executive director who is free of any interest, 

position, association or relationship that might influence, 

or reasonably be perceived to influence his or her capacity 

to bring an independent judgement to bear on issues 

before the Board and to act in the best interests of the 

Company and its security holders generally. The Directors 

will consider the materiality of any given relationship on 

a case-by-case basis and reviews the independence of 

each Director, in light of interests disclosed to the Board 

from time to time. Messers Lo and Barrie are considered 

to be independent directors. The length of service of each 

director is contained in the Directors’ Report.
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The Company’s Board Charter sets out guidelines of 

materiality for the purpose of determining independence 

of Directors and has adopted a definition of independence 

that is based on that set out in the Corporate Governance 

Council’s Principles and Recommendations (4th edition).

The Board will consider whether there are any factors or 

considerations which may mean that a Director’s interest, 

position, association or relationship might influence, or 

reasonably be perceived to influence, the capacity of the 

Director to bring an independent judgement to bear on 

issues before the Board and to act in the best interests of 

the Company and its Shareholders generally.

IDENTIFICATION AND MANAGEMENT RISK

The Board’s collective experience enables accurate 

identification of the principal risks that may affect 

the Group’s business. Key operational risks and their 

management are recurring items for deliberation at Board 

meetings.

The Board is responsible for overseeing the establishment 

of and approving risk management strategies, policies, 

procedures and systems of the Group. The Group’s 

management is responsible for establishing the Group’s 

risk management framework.

The Group regularly undertakes reviews of its risk 

management procedures to ensure that it complies with 

its legal obligations, including assisting the Chief Executive 

Officer to provide required declarations.

ETHICAL STANDARDS

The Company carries on business honestly and fairly, 

acting only in ways that reflect well on the Company and in 

compliance with all laws and regulations.

The Board has adopted a policy document which outlines 

employees’ obligations of compliance with the Code of 

Conduct and explains how the Code interacts with the 

Company’s other corporate governance policies. The 

responsibilities incorporated in the Code of Conduct 

include protection of the Company’s business, using the 

Company’s resources in an appropriate manner, protecting 

confidential information and avoiding conflicts of interest.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

Subject to the Chairman’s approval (not to be unreasonably 

withheld), the Directors, at the Company’s expense, may 

obtain independent professional advice on issues arising 

in the course of their duties.

SECURITIES TRADING POLICY

The Board has adopted a Securities Trading Policy for 

Directors, senior managers and employees in relation to 

securities dealings which is appropriate for a company 

with securities traded on NSX.

Under the Securities Trading Policy, Directors and 

employees are prohibited from dealing in the Company’s 

securities if they have in their possession information 

that they know, or ought reasonably to know, is inside 

information.

The Securities Trading Policy sets out a notification 

procedure which is required to be followed prior to any 

dealing in the Company’s securities.
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DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company’s disclosure policy is to assist with continuous 

disclosure obligations of the Australian regimes so as 

to provide the Company’s shareholders, the NSX with 

timely, direct and equal access to information issued by 

the Company and to promote investor confidence in the 

integrity of the Company and therefore to maintain an 

orderly market in its securities.

EXTERNAL AUDIT

The Company in general meetings is responsible for the 

appointment of the external auditors of the Company, 

and the Board from time to time will review the scope, 

performance and fees of those external auditors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is comprised of Yiu Man Lo (Chair), 

Kwan Chan and James S. Barrie (Members).

The Company has adopted an Audit Committee Charter. 

The Audit Committee assists the Company in meeting its 

financial reporting obligations and other tasks, including 

but not limited to, monitoring and reviewing any 

matters of significance affecting financial reporting and 

compliance, the integrity of the financial reporting of the 

Company, the Company’s internal financial control system 

and risk management systems and the external audit 

function.

REMUNERATION & NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Nomination committee is comprised 

of Yiu Man Lo (Chair), Kwan Chan and James S. Barrie 

(Members).

The Board has adopted a Remuneration Committee Charter 

to assist with remuneration of Directors, executives and 

key employees. The Company recognises that formal and 

transparent remuneration and nomination policies assist in 

promoting understanding and confidence in remuneration 

and nomination decisions.

The People and Remuneration Nomination Committee’s 

responsibility is to assist the Board in fulfilling its 

responsibilities for corporate governance and overseeing 

the Company’s people and remuneration strategies 

and policies.  This includes reviewing and making 

recommendations to the Board on remuneration 

packages and policies related to the Directors and senior 

management. In addition, the People and Remuneration 

Committee is responsible for reviewing and making 

recommendations in relation to the composition of the 

Board and ensuring that adequate succession plans 

are in place. Independent advice will be sought where 

appropriate.

The Company has established a remuneration policy that 

states:

• non-executive directors are to receive fees which are 

determined by the Board within the aggregate limit 

set by the shareholders at a general meeting; and

• executive directors’ remuneration is determined 

by the Board with reference to current market rates 

and remuneration paid to executives in comparable 

listed companies determined by the size and nature 

of operations.

Remuneration levels are set by the Board in accordance 

with industry standards to attract suitable qualified and 

experienced directors and senior management. The 

process of periodically evaluating the performance of 

the Board, its committees and individual directors and 

senior executives is set out in the Company’s Process for 

Performance Evaluations policy. Performance evaluations 

have been completed for the December 2023 financial 

year.
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In relation to Board nominations, the Committee reviews 

and makes recommendations to the Board in relation to:

a. Board succession planning generally;

b. induction and continuing professional development 

programs for directors;

c. the development and implementation of a process 

for evaluating the performance of the Board, its 

committees and directors;

d. the process for recruiting a new director, including 

evaluating the balance of skills,  knowledge, 

experience, independence and diversity on the 

Board and, in the light of this evaluation, preparing a 

description of the role and capabilities required for a 

particular appointment;

e. the appointment and re-election of directors; and

f. ensuring there are plans in place to manage the 

succession of senior executives.

DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a diversity policy. The Company 

aims to achieve, amongst other things, a diverse and 

skilled workforce, a workplace culture characterised by 

inclusive practices and behaviours for the benefit of all 

staff, improved employment and career development 

opportunities for women and a work environment that 

values and utilises the contributions of employees with 

diverse backgrounds, experiences and perspectives.

The Board consists of three male directors. The Company 

has the following appointments by gender as at 31 

December 2023:

   

Position * Female Male Total
    

Directors — 3 3

Senior executives ** — 1 1
    

* Includes personnel who contract their services to the Company

** Senior executives comprise the Chief Executive Officer

ANTI-SLAVERY AND HUMAN TRAFFICKING POLICY

There is a zero-tolerance approach to modern slavery both 

within the Company and within its supply chain. This policy 

underpins the Company’s approach to prevent slavery and 

human trafficking taking place in any part of the business 

or supply chains.

To underpin the Company’s compliance with practical 

steps, the Company aims to implement the following:

a. conduct risk assessments to determine which parts 

of our business and which suppliers are most at risk 

of modern slavery so that efforts can be focused on 

those areas;

b. engage with suppliers both to convey to them the 

Anti-Slavery and Human Trafficking Policy and to gain 

an understanding of the measures taken by them 

to ensure modern slavery is not occurring in their 

businesses and their supply chain;

c. introduce supplier pre-screening (for example as 

part of our tender process) and self-reporting for 

suppliers on safeguarding controls; and
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d. introduce contractual provisions for suppliers to 

confirm their adherence to this policy and accept the 

right for the Company to audit their activities and 

(where practicable) relationships, both routinely and 

at times of reasonable suspicion.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT (HSE) POLICY

The Company is committed to operating its business in a 

responsible and appropriate manner, that protects the 

environment and ensures the safety of its employees and 

contractors and protects the members of the communities 

in which it operates.

The purpose of the HSE Policy is to assist the Company 

and its Directors to monitor and review the health, safety, 

environmental and sustainable development policies, 

principles, practices and processes, and monitor and review 

current and future regulatory issues relating to health, 

safety, the environment and sustainable development.

The Company is committed to, and the Board will monitor 

and review the Company’s compliance with, the following 

principles and practices including but not limited to:

• Acknowledging that the management of health, 

safety, and environmental issues is an integral part of 

the Company’s business, and should be incorporated 

into business planning and decision making 

processes.

• Implementing and maintaining a systematic 

approach to risk management in order to achieve the 

objectives outlined in the HSE Policy.

• The Company and its subsidiaries complying with 

all applicable laws and regulations as a minimum 

standard, and applying responsible standards 

consistent with the principles and policies outlined in 

this policy where laws do not exist.

• Working collaboratively and proactively with 

stakeholders to develop and advance effective 

approaches to HSE management, and communicating 

openly on HSE related issues.

• Continuously seeking ways to minimize the impact of 

the Group’s exploration and production activities on 

the environment.

• Continuously identifying, reporting and evaluating 

risks, threats, hazards and impacts to company 

operations that have the potential to adversely affect 

the environment or the health, safety and security 

of employees, contractors or the community, and 

implementing appropriate control and contingency 

measures to minimise and manage them to a 

responsible level.

• Monitoring, reviewing and setting targets for 

ongoing improved HSE performance.

• Committing to employee participation in the Health 

and Safety process and welcoming the opportunities 

presented by Employee Forums to expedite the high 

standards the HSE Policy represents.

• Providing sufficient and competent human resources 

to manage the Company’s HSE commitments.

• Selecting and engaging contractors and suppliers 

whose HSE management systems are acceptable to 

the Company and consistent with the principles and 

policies outlined in the policy.

• I n c l u d i n g  a  H S E  p e r f o r m a n c e  a s s e s s m e n t 

and requiring a demonstration of continuous 

commitment to the principles and policies outlined 

in the policy in the appraisal of the Company’s 

personnel and suppliers.

• Providing training, instruction and supervision to 

personnel to enable them to attain the knowledge 

and skill levels necessary to perform their work 

incident free.

• C o m m i t t i n g  t o  r e - u s e  w a s t e  a s  m u c h  a s  i s 

economically feasible to minimise the amounts of 

waste.

RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY

The Company’s Risk Management Policy provides a 

framework to identify, assess, monitor, and manage the 

risks associated with the Company’s business.
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In accordance with the Risk Management Policy, the Board 

assessed the need to form a risk committee in conjunction 

with the necessity to form an audit committee.

The Risk Management Policy identifies that the Company 

will regularly consider the following main areas of risk to 

the Company:

a. exploration and development;

b. fluctuating commodity prices and exchange rates;

c. political and economic climate in its areas of 

operation; and

d. continuous disclosure obligations.

The Company adopted an internal control framework to 

assist the Board in identifying, assessing, monitoring and 

managing risk. The framework includes financial reporting, 

continuous disclosure, regular operations reviews and 

investment appraisals.

ANTI-BRIBERY AND CORRUPTION POLICY

The Company has adopted an anti-bribery and corruption 

policy to ensure the Company conducts all business fairly, 

honestly and openly by ensuring compliance with all 

applicable anti-corruption laws and regulations, and to 

ensure that the Company conducts business in a socially 

responsible manner. The policy sets out the responsibilities 

of the Company, the Board, the Company personnel and 

the Company’s associated persons. The policy specifically 

addresses facilitation payments or gifts and hospitality, 

dealings with public officials, political donations, and 

charitable donations.

WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY

The Company is committed to promoting and supporting 

a culture of honest and ethical behaviour, corporate 

compliance and good corporate governance. As part of that 

commitment, the Company has adopted a Whistleblower 

Policy.

This Policy is an important tool for helping the Company 

to identify wrongdoing that may not be uncovered unless 

there is a safe and secure means for disclosing wrongdoing. 

The Company encourages those who are aware of possible 

wrongdoing to report it in accordance with this policy. Any 

material breaches of the Whistleblower Protection Policy 

are to be reported to the Board or a committee of the 

Board.

ASX CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COUNCIL PRINCIPLES 
AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The Company has adopted comprehensive systems 

of control  and accountability as the basis  for the 

administration of corporate governance. The Board is 

committed to administering the policies and procedures 

with openness and integrity, pursuing the true spirit of 

corporate governance commensurate with the Company’s 

needs.

The Board is committed to best practice corporate 

governance. To the extent applicable, the Company 

has adopted The Corporate Governance Principles and 

Recommendations (4th Edition) as published by ASX 

Corporate Governance Council. In light of the Company’s 

size and nature, the Board considers the current board 

a cost effective and practical method of directing and 

managing the Company. As the Company’s activities 

develop in size, nature and scope, the size of the Board and 

the implementation of additional corporate governance 

policies and structures will be reviewed.

A copy of the Company’s Corporate Governance Policies 

is able to be accessed on the Company’s website www.

phoeniciangroup.com.

DEPARTURES FROM CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
COUNCIL’S RECOMMENDATIONS

The Company will  report any departures from the 

Recommendations in its annual financial report as part of 

its Corporate Governance Statement.
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The Company’s departures from the Recommendations 

are set out below. A copy of the ASX Corporate Governance 

C o u n c i l ’ s  C o r p o r a t e  G o v e r n a n c e  P r i n c i p l e s  a n d 

Recommendations is available at: http://www.asx.com.

au/regulation/corporate-governance-council.htm.

 

Best Practice Recommendation Nature and Explanation for Departure
  

1.5 Set measurable objectives for achieving 

gender diversity in the composition of the entity’s 

board, senior executives and workforce generally 

and disclose in relation to each reporting period 

the measurable objectives set for that period to 

achieve gender diversity and the entity’s progress 

towards achieving those objectives.

The Company’s general policy when choosing Employees and Board 

members is to recruit and manage on the basis of competence and 

performance regardless of age, nationality, race, gender, religious 

beliefs, sexuality, physical ability or cultural background.

1.7 A listed entity should: (a) have and disclose 

a process for evaluating the performance of its 

senior executives at least once every reporting 

period; and (b) disclose for each reporting 

period whether a performance evaluation was 

undertaken in accordance with that process 

during or in respect of that period

The Board did not conduct a performance evaluation of senior 

executives during the last 12 months and has not adopted a 

performance evaluation policy. The Company believes that the small 

size of the executive team and the current scale of the Company’s 

activities make the establishment of a formal performance 

evaluation procedure unnecessary. Performance evaluation is a 

discretionary matter for consideration by the entire Board. In the 

normal course of events the Board reviews performance of senior 

management and the Board as a whole. Achievement of goals 

and business development and compliance issues are evaluated 

regularly on an informal basis.

2.5 The chair of the board of a listed entity should 

be an independent director and, in particular, 

should not be the same person as the CEO of the 

entity.

Mr. Kwan Chan is the Executive Chair of the Company. Mr. Marco 

Arosti is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

The Company is mindful of the need to have strong independent 

Board representation and anticipates that as the Company grows and 

its projects expand it will be appropriate to appoint an independent 

non-executive as chairman, either from the existing Directors or via 

a new appointment.

7.3 A listed entity should disclose: (a) if it has 

an internal audit function, how the function is 

structured and what role it performs; or (b) if it 

does not have an internal audit function, that 

fact and the processes it employs for evaluating 

and continually improving the effectiveness of 

its governance, risk management and internal 

control processes.

The Company is committed to understanding and managing risk 

and to establishing an organisational culture that ensures risk 

management is included in all activities, decision making and 

business processes. The Company does not have a formal internal 

audit function due to its size and business needs. Under the 

Company’s Audit and Risk Committee Charter, the Audit and Risk 

Committee is charged with the review of the Company’s internal 

controls and monitoring the need for a formal internal audit 

function. A copy of the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee Charter 

and the Risk Management Policy is available on the Company’s 

website.
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NSX CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES

The NSX has developed suggested content for corporate 

governance policies and procedures which is set out on 

NSX’s Practice Note 14 (Practice Note 14). The content 

outlined in Practice Note 14 is not prescriptive, but is 

intended to act as a guideline for listed entities’ corporate 

governance.

The policies and procedures that listed entities may adopt 

as suggested by Practice Note 14, and the approach 

adopted by the Company to comply with such guidelines, 

is listed below:

 

Suggested content and scope Company policy
  

A.  Policies and procedures adopted to 

ensure that the issuer acts according 

to law, including satisfying its 

reporting obligations under the 

Corporations Act 2001 and the 

Listing Rules.

Code of Conduct

The Code of Conduct prescribes standards of ethical behaviour expected from 

the board, management and employees. All directors, officers, managers 

and employees are required to meet certain standards of ethical behaviour 

including acting honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the Company 

as a whole, and avoiding conflicts of interest and managing conflicts of interest 

appropriately if they arise.

Audit Committee Charter

The Board has adopted an Audit Committee Charter which outlines appropriate 

structures are in place to ensure ongoing compliance with Listing Rules and 

other regulatory compliance.

B.  Policies and procedures adopted to 

ensure that the Issuer’s board acts 

with due care and diligence and in 

the interests of shareholders

Board Charter

The Company has adopted a Board Charter which sets out the principles for 

operation of the Company board of directors. The board is accountable to 

shareholders for performance of the Company.

Securities Trading Policy

This policy acts as a guide to dealing in the Company’s securities. It discusses 

insider trading provisions and trading restrictions.

C.  Policies and procedures adopted 

to adequately identify and deal 

with conflicts of interest at board, 

management and employee levels.

Code of Conduct

The Company’s Code of Conduct addresses conflicts of interest which may arise 

in the Company.
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Suggested content and scope Company policy
  

D.  Policies and procedures adopted 

to protect shareholder interests, 

including: access to information, 

voting rights, share of profits, and 

equitable treatment.

Disclosure Policy

The Company has adopted a disclosure policy which addresses the Company’s 

continuous disclosure obligations. It states that the Company has formed 

policies and procedures to discharge the Company’s disclosure requirements to 

ensure information is released to the market in a timely manner.

In terms of shareholder communication, the Company aims, amongst 

other things, to maintain an up to date website containing all information 

announced, and operate an email register.

Risk Management Policy

The Company’s risk management policy provides a framework to identify, 

assess, monitor and manage the risks associated with the Company’s business. 

The Company’s risk management is focused on the areas of financial reporting, 

continuous disclosure (as provided in the disclosure policy), and operations 

review.

E.  Policies and procedures adopted to 

protect the interests of stakeholders 

including: employees, creditors and 

the wider community.

The remuneration of directors is decided by the Board in its capacity as the 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee. The Remuneration and Nomination 

Committee is to review and make recommendations and to ensure that the 

remuneration policies and practices are consistent with the Company’s strategic 

goals and human resources objectives. Refer Code of Conduct in Section A 

above.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF

PHOENICIAN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Phoenician International Limited (the “Company”) and its 

subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 51 to 107, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as 

at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 

consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 

Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 

then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board 

for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“ISEBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with ISEBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Material Uncertainty Relating to Going Concern

We draw attention to note 2 in the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net 

loss of HK$183,170,757 during the year ended 31 December 2023 and, as of that date, the Group had bank and cash 

balances (excluding client trust monies) of HK$5,394,682, while the outstanding unsecured loan from a non-controlling 

shareholder amounted to HK$100,811,488 will be due for payment on 31 December 2024. As stated in note 2, these 

events or conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 

opinion on these matters. The key audit matters we identified are:

1. Impairment assessment of other receivables

2. Impairment assessment of right-of-use assets and prepayments

  

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
  

Impairment assessment of other receivables

Refer to notes 4(t), 5(c), 6(c) and 20 to the consolidated 

financial statements

T h e  G r o u p  h a d  o t h e r  r e c e i v a b l e s  a m o u n t e d  t o 

HK$3,106,794, net of allowance for expected credit loss 

(“ECL”) of HK$820,000 as at 31 December 2023. 

For assessing the recoverability of other receivables, the 

Group has applied general approach in calculating the ECL 

for other receivables. The measurement of ECL requires 

estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows, 

and the assessment of significant increase in credit risk. 

The estimations and assumptions applied in the ECL model 

include (i) the selection of inputs which the Group used in 

the ECL model including loss given default and probability 

of default; and (ii) the selection of forward-looking 

information.

Our audit procedures were designed to challenge the 

assumptions and critical judgements of the Group’s 

forward-looking ECL model on impairment assessment of 

other receivables. Our audit procedures included: 

We understood and evaluated the key control procedures 

over management’s impairment assessment of other 

receivables, and assessed the inherent risk of material 

misstatement by considering the degree of estimation 

uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such as 

complexity, subjectivity, changes and uncertainty.

We assessed the appropriateness of the ECL provisioning 

methodology and discussed with management to 

understand the management’s identification of significant 

increase in credit risk, defaults and credit-impaired 

receivables, corroborated management’s explanation with 

supporting evidence.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

  

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
  

Impairment assessment of other receivables (cont’d)

We focused on this area due to the inherent risk in relation 

to the impairment assessment of other receivables under 

the ECL model is considered significant due to significant 

management judgements and estimates involved in 

determining the collectability of other receivables and 

selecting data for the calculation of loss allowance.

We assessed the reasonableness of key assumptions, 

including probability of default rate and loss given default 

rate for ECL, with assistance of our external valuation 

expert.

We evaluated whether the historical loss rates are 

appropriately adjusted based on current economic 

conditions and forward-looking information.

We reviewed the appropriateness of the disclosure in the 

consolidated financial statements.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

  

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
  

Impairment assessment of right-of-use assets and 

prepayments

Refer to notes 4(s), 5(b), 18 and 20 to the consolidated 

financial statements

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had right-of-use assets 

and prepayments of HK$6,200,000 and HK$6,752,564 

respectively.

Given the Group was loss making for the year, there is a risk 

that the carrying amounts of these assets are higher than 

their recoverable amounts.

The recoverable amount is determined based on value in 

use calculation. The calculation uses cash flow projections 

derived from financial budgets with key assumptions such 

as budgeted revenue and growth rate, which involve 

significant management judgement and estimation.

The impairment assessment of right-of-use assets and 

prepayments is our area of focus given it is subject to 

significant management judgement and estimation which 

are subjective.

Our audit procedures were designed to challenge the 

assumptions and critical judgements of the Group’s 

valuation model on impairment assessment of right-of-use 

assets and prepayments. Our audit procedures included: 

We understood management’s processes of impairment 

assessments of right-of-use assets and prepayments and 

assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by 

considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and other 

inherent risk factors.

We understood and evaluated management’s control 

procedures in relation to the impairment assessment.

We reviewed management’s assessment of the indications 

of impairment.

We challenged the reasonableness of management’s key 

assumptions underlying the cash flow forecasts in the 

valuation model, with reference to the historical budgets 

and performance of the cash-generating unit and the 

reasons for any deviations, our understanding of the 

business and independent market data.

We reviewed the appropriateness of the valuation 

a p p r o a c h  a n d  m e t h o d o l o g y ,  t h e  a c c u r a c y  o f 

the calculations in  the valuation model,  and the 

reasonableness of the components comprising the discount 

rate compared to independent market data, with assistance 

of our external valuation expert.

We reviewed the appropriateness of the disclosure in the 

consolidated financial statements.
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Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the information included in 

the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 

work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit Committee for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 

consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 

basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 

alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 

process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or 

accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 

will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 

material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 

users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 

audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 

direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.





DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

50 Phoenician International Limited

The directors of Phoenician International Limited (the “Company”) declare that:

1. The consolidated financial statements and notes for the year ended 31 December 2023 as set out on pages 51 to 

107,

a. are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards; and

b. give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) 

as at 31 December 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance for the year then ended.

2. In the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and 

when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Mr. Kwan Chan, Executive Chair

Hong Kong, 8 March 2024
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Note 2023 2022

HK$ HK$
    

Revenue 8 5,968,967 3,191,830

Other income 9 18,779 8,551

Other gains and losses 10 (174,748,410) (179,773,130)

Reversal of allowance/(allowance) for expected credit loss 3,680,000 (4,500,000)

Administrative and other operating expenses (13,727,861) (11,093,720)
    

Loss from operations (178,808,525) (192,166,469)

Finance costs - loan interest 26 (4,362,232) (4,142,368)
    

Loss before tax (183,170,757) (196,308,837)

Income tax expense 12 — —
    

Loss for the year 13 (183,170,757) (196,308,837)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax — —
    

Total comprehensive income for the year (183,170,757) (196,308,837)
    

Attributable to:

  Owners of the Company (183,170,757) (196,308,837)
    

Loss per share 16

  Basic (1.74) (1.94)
    

  Diluted N/A N/A
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Note 2023 2022

HK$ HK$
    

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 17 — —

Right-of-use assets 18 6,200,000 —

Prepayments 20 4,150,333 —
    

10,350,333 —
    

Current assets

Trade and client receivables 21 3,032,640 4,868,133

Other receivables and prepayments 20 5,709,025 14,946,908

Deposits 105,000 105,000

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 22 103,774,011 277,837,518

Bank and cash balances 23 22,873,425 8,873,084
    

135,494,101 306,630,643
    

Current liabilities

Trade and client payables 24 17,478,730 8,054,306

Accruals and other payables 25 1,291,217 1,271,841

Unsecured loan 26 100,811,488 —
    

119,581,435 9,326,147
    

Net current assets 15,912,666 297,304,496
    

Total assets less current liabilities 26,262,999 297,304,496

Non-current liabilities

Unsecured loan 26 — 89,182,656
    

NET ASSETS 26,262,999 208,121,840
    

Capital and reserves

Share capital 27 86 86

Reserves 29 26,262,913 208,121,754
    

TOTAL EQUITY 26,262,999 208,121,840
    

Approved by the Board of Directors on 8 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Kwan Chan Mr. Yiu Man Lo
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Share

capital

Share 

premium 

account

Shared-based 

payments 

reserve

Retained 

profits/

(accumulated 

losses) Total

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
      

At 1 January 2022 78 — — 379,338,654 379,338,732

Total comprehensive income 

 for the year — — — (196,308,837) (196,308,837)

Issue of shares (note 27) 8 25,091,937 — — 25,091,945
      

At 31 December 2022 and 

 1 January 2023 86 25,091,937 — 183,029,817 208,121,840

Total comprehensive income 

 for the year — — — (183,170,757) (183,170,757)

Share-based payments (note 31) — — 1,311,916 — 1,311,916
      

At 31 December 2023 86 25,091,937 1,311,916 (140,940) 26,262,999
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Note 2023 2022

HK$ HK$
    

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before tax (183,170,757) (196,308,837)

Adjustments for:

 Interest income 9 (18,779) (3,551)

 Depreciation of right-of-use assets 18 1,000,000 —

 Equity settled share-based payments 1,311,916 —

 Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value 

  through profit or loss 10 173,969,980 180,890,163

 (Reversal of allowance)/allowance for 

  expected credit loss (3,680,000) 4,500,000

 Finance costs 4,362,232 4,142,368
    

Operating loss before working capital changes (6,225,408) (6,779,857)

Decrease in trade and client receivables 1,835,493 3,976,362

Decrease/(increase) in other receivables and prepayments 1,567,550 (19,347,484)

Decrease in financial assets at fair value 

  through profit or loss 93,527 180,026

(Increase)/decrease in client trust monies (13,582,298) 2,456,029

Increase in trade and client payables 9,424,424 501,341

Increase/(decrease) in accruals and other payables 19,376 (1,478,956)
    

Net cash used in operating activities (6,867,336) (20,492,539)
    

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITY

Interest received and net cash generated 

 from investing activity 18,779 3,551
    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of unsecured loan (43,400) (13,400,000)

Raised from unsecured loan 7,310,000 4,901,423

Net proceeds from issue of shares — 25,091,945
    

Net cash generated from financing activities 7,266,600 16,593,368
    

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 418,043 (3,895,620)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY 4,976,639 8,872,259
    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 5,394,682 4,976,639
    

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank and cash balances 22,873,425 8,873,084

Less: Client trust monies 23 (17,478,743) (3,896,445)
    

5,394,682 4,976,639
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Phoenician International Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability. The 

address of its registered office is PO Box 472, Harbour Place, 2nd Floor, 103 South Church Street, George Town, Grand 

Cayman, KY1-1106, Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares are listed on National Stock Exchange of Australia Limited 

(the “NSX”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 19 to 

the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Zurich Capital Partners Limited, a company incorporated in Hong 

Kong, is the immediate and ultimate parent and Mr. Mauricio Castroparedes Merino is the ultimate controlling party 

of the Company.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”). IFRSs comprise International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”); 

International Accounting Standards (“IAS”); and Interpretations.

The International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are first 

effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information 

on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that 

they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial 

statements.

Going concern basis

The Group incurred a net loss of HK$183,170,757 during the year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 

2023, the Group had bank and cash balances (excluding client trust monies) of HK$5,394,682, while the outstanding 

unsecured loan from a non-controlling shareholder amounted to HK$100,811,488 will be due for payment on 31 

December 2024.

These events or conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about 

the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 

course of business.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Going concern basis (Continued)

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the Company have estimated the Group’s cash requirements by 

the preparation of a Group cashflow forecast for the 12 months ending 31 December 2024. The Group has been 

negotiating with the non-controlling shareholder and obtained their confirmation that, subject to the completion of 

the legal documentation, they are planning to extend the maturity of the outstanding loan of HK$100,811,488 for 

at least one year to 31 December 2025, and maintain the total facilities amount to HK$150,000,000. Based on the 

confirmation from the non-controlling shareholder, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group 

has sufficient financial resources to finance the Group’s operations and meet its financial obligations as and when 

they fall due. Accordingly, the directors of the Company are of the view that it is appropriate to adopt the going 

concern basis in preparing these consolidated financial statements.

Notwithstanding, material uncertainty exists as to whether the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 

would depend upon the following:

(a) Whether the loan facilities will be extended by the non-controlling shareholder to at least one year to 31 

December 2025; and

(b) Whether the Group can further utilise from the available facilities provided by the non-controlling shareholder 

as and when needed.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern in the foreseeable future, adjustments would have to be 

made to write down the carrying value of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further 

liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and 

current liabilities respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in these consolidated financial 

statements.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED IFRSs

(a) Application of new and revised IFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRSs issued by the IASB for the first time, which are 

mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the 

consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to IAS 1 and

 IFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no material 

impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the 

disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Impact on application of Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting 

Policies”

The Group has adopted Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies” 

for the first time in the current year. IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” is amended to replace 

all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”. 

Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other information included in an 

entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of 

general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may be material because of the nature of 

the related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all 

accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. 

If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information must not obscure 

material accounting policy information.

IFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements” (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to 

illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and to 

judge whether information about an accounting policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and 

examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and 

performance but has affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set out in note 4 to the 

consolidated financial statements.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED IFRSs (CONTINUED)

(a) Application of new and revised IFRSs (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

(the “HKICPA”) guidance on the accounting implications of the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund 

(“MPF”) - Long Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong

The Group has a subsidiary operating in Hong Kong which is obliged to pay LSP to employees under certain 

circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory MPF contributions to the trustee who administers the 

assets held in a trust solely for the retirement benefits of each individual employee. Offsetting of LSP against 

an employee’s accrued retirement benefits derived from employers’ MPF contributions was allowed under 

the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57). In June 2022, the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrarive 

Region gazetted the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) 

Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from 

employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset severance payment and LSP (the “Abolition”). The Abolition 

will officially take effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition, under the Amendment Ordinance, 

the last month’s salary immediately preceding the Transition Date (instead of the date of termination of 

employment) is used to calculate the portion of LSP in respect of the employment period before the Transition 

Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting 

mechanism in Hong Kong” which provides guidance for the accounting for the offsetting mechanism and the 

impact arising from abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of this, the Group has 

implemented the guidance published by the HKICPA in connection with the LSP obligation retrospectively so 

as to provide more reliable and more relevant information about the effects of the offsetting mechanism and 

the Abolition.

The Group considered the accrued benefits arising from employer MPF contributions that have been vested 

with the employee and which could be used to offset the employee’s LSP benefits as a deemed contribution 

by the employee towards the LSP. Historically, the Group has been applying the practical expedient in 

paragraph 93(b) of IAS 19 to account for the deemed employee contributions as a reduction of the service cost 

in the period in which the related service is rendered.

Based on the HKICPA’s guidance, as a result of the Abolition, these contributions are no longer considered 

“linked solely to the employee’s service in that period” since the mandatory employer MPF contributions 

after the Transition Date can still be used to offset the pre-transition LSP obligation. Therefore, it would not 

be appropriate to view the contributions as “independent of the number of years of service” and the practical 

expedient in paragraph 93(b) of IAS 19 is no longer applicable. Instead, these deemed contributions should 

be attributed to periods of service in the same manner as the gross LSP benefit applying paragraph 93(a) of 

IAS 19. This change in accounting policy has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and 

performance for the current and prior years.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED IFRSs (CONTINUED)

(b) Revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to standard that have been issued but are not yet 

effective:

 

Effective for

accounting periods

beginning on or after
  

Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2024

Amendments to IAS 1 - Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024

Amendments to IAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current” (the “2020 Amendments”) and 

Amendments to IAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer 

settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-

current, which:

• clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by 

the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification as current 

or non-current only if the entity recognises the option separately as an equity instrument applying IAS 32 

Financial Instruments: Presentation.

• specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should be based on rights that are in 

existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that the classification 

should not be affected by management intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12 

months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date which are conditional on the 

compliance with covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020 Amendments have been modified by 

the 2022 Amendments. The 2022 Amendments specify that only covenants with which an entity is required 

to comply with on or before the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of a 

liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date. Covenants which are required to comply with only 

after the reporting period do not affect whether that right exists at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure requirements about information that enables users 

of financial statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could become repayable within twelve 

months after the reporting period, if an entity classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-

current when the entity’s right to defer settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity complying with 

covenants within twelve months after the reporting period.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED IFRSs (CONTINUED)

(b) Revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current” (the “2020 Amendments”) and 

Amendments to IAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with the 2020 Amendments, 

are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with early application 

permitted. If an entity applies the 2020 Amendments for an earlier period after the issue of the 2022 

Amendments, the entity should also apply the 2022 Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2023, and the related terms and conditions 

stipulated in the agreements between the Group and the relevant lenders, the application of the 2020 and 

2022 Amendments will not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, unless mentioned 

otherwise in the accounting policies below (e.g. certain financial instruments that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 

accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s 

accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions 

and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out 

below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 

made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an 

entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 

ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when 

the Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that 

significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights held 

by other parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise 

that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-

consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss of control represents the difference 

between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in that 

subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill and 

any accumulated foreign currency translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 

unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of 

subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the 

Group.

(b) Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment 

loss. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investments. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the 

Company on the basis of dividend received or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend from these 

investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the 

dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds 

the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the 

currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s 

functional and presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency on initial recognition 

using the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign 

currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses 

resulting from this translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 

are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction date is 

the date on which the Group initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary 

items that are measured at fair value in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the 

dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any 

exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain or 

loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss 

is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all foreign operations (none of which has the currency of 

hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the Company’s presentation 

currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

–  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the 

closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

–  Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period (unless this 

average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the 

transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the exchange rates on the 

transaction dates); and

–  All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and 

accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of monetary items that form part of 

the net investment in foreign entities are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 

the foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are 

reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the supply of services, or for administrative purposes are stated 

in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and 

subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 

only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the 

cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss 

during the period in which they are incurred.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their 

residual values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rate is as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the term of the lease

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the 

end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

(e) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 

contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 

exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the use of the 

identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not 

to separate non-lease components and accounts for each lease component and any associated non-lease 

components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises the 

initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, and 

any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate 

of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which 

it is located, discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is 

subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased 

assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life. 

Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful 

life and the lease term.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(f) Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 

when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 

and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the 

fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction 

costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised 

immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 

expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 

the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 

of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the 

asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset 

and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 

and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 

recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(g) Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 

Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 

the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised financial assets are 

measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification 

of the financial assets.

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified as amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection 

of contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of principal and interest. Interest income from the 

investment is calculated using the effective interest method.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL. Dividends from an investment in equity securities are 

recognised in profit or loss as other income.

(h) Trade, client and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration. A right 

to receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of that 

consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive 

consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Trade and client receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional 

unless they contain significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group 

holds the trade and client receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore 

measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method less allowance for credit 

losses.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other 

financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known 

amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three 

months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL”).

(j) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual 

arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under IFRSs. An 

equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting 

all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are 

set out below.

(k) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured 

at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction 

costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the 

effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 

of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

(l) Trade, client and other payables

Trade, client and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in 

which case they are stated at cost.

(m) Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 

all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of 

direct issue costs.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(n) Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when service is rendered to the customer, at the amount of promised consideration 

to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes.

Corporate advisory fees income, consultancy fees income, investment advisory fees income and investment 

management fees income are recognised over time as the customers simultaneously receive and consume 

the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs.

Commission fees income is recognised at the point in time when the services are rendered to the customer.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method. For financial assets measured at 

amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount 

of the asset.

(o) Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they accrue to 

employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a 

result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which are available to all employees. 

Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’ 

basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents contributions 

payable by the Group to the funds.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer MPF contributions expected to be offsetted as 

a deemed employee contribution towards the LSP obligation in term of IAS 19 paragraph 93(a) and it 

is measured on a net basis. The estimated amount of future benefit is determined after deducting the 

negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that 

have been vested with employees, which are deemed to be contributions from the relevant employees.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(o) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw 

the offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises restructuring costs and involves the payment 

of termination benefits.

(p) Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain directors, employees and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and employees are measured at the fair value (excluding 

the effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair 

value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line 

basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted 

for the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are measured at the fair value of the services rendered 

or, if the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably measured, at the fair value of the equity 

instruments granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group receives the services and is recognised 

as an expense.

(q) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(r) Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised 

in profit or loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items 

that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(r) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 

profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax 

assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 

taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets 

and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of other assets 

and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time 

of transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 

except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 

temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the 

asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled 

or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 

reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in 

other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 

the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 

amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 

assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 

authority and the Group intends either to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, or to realise 

the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(s) Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date for indications of 

impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income to its estimated recoverable amount. The 

recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that 

are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount 

is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of 

value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present 

values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value of money and the risks specific to 

the asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated pro rata amongst the assets of the cash-generating 

unit. Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates are credited to profit or 

loss to the extent that they reverse the impairment.

(t) Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on trade, client and other receivables and bank and cash 

balances. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial 

recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and client receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are 

assessed.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant 

increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not 

increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial 

instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 

financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result 

from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(t) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 

recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting 

date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making 

this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and 

supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue 

cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in which 

the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, 

relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of 

actual and forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 

significantly since initial recognition:

–  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 

internal credit rating;

–  significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

–  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to 

cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

–  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

–  significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor;

–  an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 

environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 

obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial 

asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days 

past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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(t) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased 

significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the 

reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, 

reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of 

“investment grade” in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an external rating is not 

available, the asset has an internal rating of “performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a 

strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 

identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management 

purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are 

generally not recoverable.

–  when there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty; or

–  information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely 

to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the 

Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more 

than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a 

more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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(t) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 

future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired 

includes observable data about the following events:

–  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the counterparty;

–  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

–  the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s 

financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not 

otherwise consider;

–  it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

–  the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial 

difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor has been placed under 

liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade and client receivables, when 

the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be 

subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice 

where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of 

the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss 

given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. As for 

the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the 

reporting date.
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(t) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to 

the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted 

at the original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in 

the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL 

are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current 

reporting date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a 

corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

(u) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a present legal 

or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic 

benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value 

of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the 

obligation. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due 

to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 

estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is 

remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence 

of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is 

remote.

(v) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the end of 

the reporting period are adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events 

after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements when material.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 4, the directors are required to make 

judgements (other than those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and 

to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 

from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors 

that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 

the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors have made the following judgements that have 

the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements (apart from those 

involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

(a) Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which 

depends upon whether the loan facilities will be extended by a non-controlling shareholder to at least one 

year to 31 December 2025, and whether the Group can further utilise from the available facilities provided 

by the non-controlling shareholder as and when needed. Details are explained in note 2 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

(b) Business model assessment

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the solely payments of principal 

and interest and the business model test. The Group determines the business model at a level that reflects 

how groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective. This 

assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence including how the performance of the assets 

is evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect the performance of the assets and how 

these are managed and how the managers of the assets are compensated. The Group monitors financial 

assets measured at amortised cost that are derecognised prior to their maturity to understand the reason for 

their disposal and whether the reasons are consistent with the objective of the business for which the asset 

was held. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether the business model for which 

the remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not appropriate whether there 

has been a change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification of those assets. No such 

changes were required during the periods presented.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)

(c) Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 4, ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime 

ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since 

initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing 

whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Group takes into account qualitative and 

quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-looking information.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 

reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Deferred tax assets

No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax losses of approximately HK$5,231,000 (2022: 

HK$5,345,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of the deferred tax assets 

mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in 

the future, which is a key source of estimation uncertainty. In cases where the actual future taxable profits 

generated are less or more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which result in revision of 

future taxable profits estimation, recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in 

profit or loss for the period in which such recognition takes place.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b) Impairment of right-of-use assets and prepayments

In determining whether right-of-use assets and prepayments are impaired, the Group has to exercise 

judgement and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators 

that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable 

amount, in the case of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based 

upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the 

recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible 

to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of 

the cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and estimates, including 

the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the recoverable 

amounts.

The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and prepayments as at 31 December 2023 were HK$6,200,000 

(2022: HK$Nil) and HK$6,752,564 (2022: HK$Nil) respectively.

(c) Impairment of trade, client and other receivables

The Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade, client and other receivables individually. The 

provision rates are based on the Group’s historical default rates and forward-looking information that is 

reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical 

observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade, 

client and other receivables are disclosed in note 6(c).

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of trade, client and other receivables was HK$6,139,434 (net of 

allowance for ECL of HK$820,000) (2022: HK$19,815,041 (net of allowance for ECL of HK$4,500,000)).
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk 

and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial 

markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its business transactions, assets and 

liabilities are principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Australian dollars (“AUD”), British pound (“GBP”) 

and United States dollars (“USD”). The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy 

in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign currency 

exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise. The 

directors do not expect significant foreign currency risk arising from USD denominated items in view of the 

Hong Kong dollar pegged system to the USD.

At 31 December 2023, if the Hong Kong dollar had weakened 5 per cent against the AUD with all other 

variables held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year would have been approximately HK$181,000 

(2022: HK$786,000) lower, arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gains on other receivables and 

bank balances denominated in AUD. If the Hong Kong dollar had strengthened 5 per cent against the AUD 

with all other variables held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year would have been approximately 

HK$181,000 (2022: HK$786,000) higher, arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange losses on other 

receivables and bank balances denominated in AUD.

At 31 December 2023, if the Hong Kong dollar had weakened 5 per cent against the GBP with all other 

variables held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year would have been approximately HK$5,197,000 

(2022: HK$13,916,000) lower, arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gains on financial assets at 

FVTPL denominated in GBP. If the Hong Kong dollar had strengthened 5 per cent against the GBP with all other 

variables held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year would have been approximately HK$5,197,000 

(2022: HK$13,916,000) higher, arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange losses on financial assets at 

FVTPL denominated in GBP.

(b) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through its investment in equity securities. The Group’s equity 

price risk is mainly concentrated on equity securities quoted on The London Stock Exchange (“LSE”).

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risk at the end of 

the reporting period.

If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower (2022: 10% higher/lower), consolidated loss after tax for the year 

ended 31 December 2023 would decrease/increase by approximately HK$10,377,000 (2022: HK$27,784,000). 

This is mainly due to the changes in fair value of held-for-trading investments.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(c) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer 

contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily 

trade and client receivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial 

institutions, and other financial instruments. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash 

equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks and financial institutions with high credit-rating 

assigned by international credit-rating agencies, for which the Group considers to have low credit risk. 

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing 

basis.

Trade and client receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures 

and control relating to customer credit risk management. Individual credit evaluations are performed on 

all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history 

of making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the 

customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer operates. Trade and client 

receivables are due from the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in Australia, which accounted for 

100% (2022: 6%) of the total trade and client receivables as at 31 December 2023. In order to minimise the 

credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits 

and credit approvals.

The Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end of each reporting period to 

ensure that adequate loss allowance is made for irrecoverable amounts on trade and client receivables. 

ECL on trade and client receivables are assessed individually. The assessment is based on the internal credit 

ratings, ageing, repayment history and/or past due status of the respective customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade and client receivables as at 31 December 2023 and 31 

December 2022 are insignificant.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables

The other receivables mainly consist of receivables from various brokers. The directors of the Company 

consider the probability of default upon initial recognition of other receivables and whether there has been 

significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis. To assess whether there is a significant increase in 

credit risk, the Group compares risk of a default occurring on the assets as at the reporting date with the risk of 

default as at the date of initial recognition. Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

(i) actual or expected significant adverse change in business, financial economic conditions that are 

expected to cause a significant change to the Cayman broker’s ability to meet its obligations; and

(ii) significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the Cayman broker, including 

changes in the payment status of the Cayman broker.

The Group has applied general approach in calculating the ECL for other receivables. The management 

considers the credit risk on the receivables from a Cayman broker (which is a non-controlling shareholder of 

the Company since December 2023) of HK$3,470,433 (2022: HK$19,348,697) (note 20(a)) after considering 

its financial conditions and concludes that there is no significant increase in credit risk, and the ECL is limited 

to 12-month ECL. Management has estimated the ECL for receivables from the Cayman broker with reference 

to Moody’s study: default rate of 34.50% (2022: 35.23%) and recovery rate of 38.50% (2022: 38.30%) after 

considering the current economic environment and the forward-looking economic factors.

Movement in the loss allowance for other receivables during the year is as follows:

  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

At 1 January 4,500,000 —

Allowance for ECL recognised at initial recognition — 6,147,000

Reversals (3,680,000) (1,647,000)
   

At 31 December 820,000 4,500,000
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it 

maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s financial liabilities is as 

follows:

   

Less than

1 year

Between

1 and 2 years Total

HK$ HK$ HK$
    

At 31 December 2023

Trade and client payables 17,478,730 — 17,478,730

Accruals and other payables 1,291,217 — 1,291,217

Unsecured loan 105,549,628 — 105,549,628

At 31 December 2022

Trade and client payables 8,054,306 — 8,054,306

Accruals and other payables 1,271,841 — 1,271,841

Unsecured loan — 97,762,830 97,762,830
    

(e) Interest rate risk

The Group’s unsecured loan bears interest at a fixed interest rate and therefore is subject to fair value interest 

rate risks.

(f) Categories of financial instruments at 31 December

  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

Financial assets:

Financial assets at FVTPL:

Mandatorily measured at FVTPL - Held for trading 103,774,011 277,837,518

Financial assets at amortised cost 29,117,859 28,793,125

Financial liabilities:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 119,581,435 98,508,803
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(g) Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated 

statement of financial position approximate their respective fair values.

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value measurements use a 

fair value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can 

access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 December:

    

Fair value measurements using: Total

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2023

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
     

Recurring fair value measurements:

Financial assets

Financial assets at FVTPL

Listed equity securities 103,774,011 — — 103,774,011
     

    

Fair value measurements using: Total

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2022

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
     

Recurring fair value measurements:

Financial assets

Financial assets at FVTPL

Listed equity securities 277,837,518 — — 277,837,518
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8. REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by major service lines for the year is as follows:

  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

Revenue from contracts with customers within 

 the scope of IFRS 15

Disaggregated by major service lines

 - Corporate advisory fees (note (a)) 2,808,000 2,808,000

 - Consultancy fees (note (a)) 2,798,640 —

 - Commission fees (note (b)) 275,527 297,030

 - Investment advisory fees (note (c)) 40,000 40,000

 - Investment management fees (note (c)) 46,800 46,800
   

5,968,967 3,191,830
   

Notes:

(a) Corporate advisory fees and consultancy fees were received from an investee company (note 22) in respect of financial advisory and 

consulting services provided respectively (2022: HK$2,808,000 and HK$Nil).

(b) Included in commission fees were amounts totalling HK$179,601 (2022: HK$287,476) received from non-controlling shareholders of the 

Company.

(c) Included in investment advisory fees and investment management fees were totalling HK$65,100 received from a non-controlling 

shareholder (prior to 24 February 2022: ultimate controlling party) of the Company (2022: HK$86,800).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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9. OTHER INCOME
  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

Interest income 18,779 3,551

Sundry income — 5,000
   

18,779 8,551
   

10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES
  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

Fair value losses on financial assets at FVTPL (note) (173,969,980) (180,890,163)

Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains except gains/losses 

 arising from financial assets at FVTPL (778,430) 1,117,033
   

(174,748,410) (179,773,130)
   

Note:

Fair value losses on financial assets at FVTPL include foreign exchange gains of HK$4,537,160 (2022: losses of HK$57,158,507) arising from the re-

translation of foreign currency fair value.



87Annual Report 2023

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the directors of the Company. The directors review the 

Group’s internal reporting for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance which 

focused on the category of services provided to external customers. The Group has identified three reportable 

segments as follows:

Wealth management — The wealth management unit is specialised in advising private and 

institutional clients to preserve and manage their wealth and achieve 

their financial goals.

Investment management — The investment management unit manages discretionary accounts 

on behalf of the institutional and private clients to capture global 

investment opportunities leveraging on both the investment 

professionals and external investment managers.

Investment banking — The investment banking unit advises corporate clients on complex 

international transactions and global private and public fundraisings 

and provides sales, trading, brokerage and research services to 

institutional and private clients.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different services. They are managed 

separately because each business requires different marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated 

financial statements.
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11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about operating segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities:

    

Wealth 

management

Investment 

management

Investment 

banking Total

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
     

Year ended 31 December 2023

Revenue 40,000 46,800 5,882,167 5,968,967

Segment loss 33,246,237 109,133,214 40,791,306 183,170,757

Interest income 223 1,436 17,120 18,779

Finance costs 774,181 2,550,203 1,037,848 4,362,232

Depreciation 177,474 584,610 237,916 1,000,000

Other material non-cash items:

 Reversal of allowance for ECL — 3,680,000 — 3,680,000

 Fair value losses on financial 

  assets at FVTPL 30,534,781 101,865,406 41,569,793 173,969,980

Additions to segment non-current assets 2,014,658 6,635,415 2,700,260 11,350,333
     

As at 31 December 2023

Segment assets 21,305,725 71,062,003 53,476,706 145,844,434

Segment liabilities 18,136,440 59,442,019 42,002,976 119,581,435
     

Year ended 31 December 2022

Revenue 40,000 46,800 3,105,030 3,191,830

Segment loss 34,147,947 116,345,664 45,815,226 196,308,837

Interest income 1 — 3,550 3,551

Finance costs 729,840 2,423,252 989,276 4,142,368

Other material non-cash items:

 Allowance for ECL — 4,500,000 — 4,500,000

 Fair value losses on financial 

  assets at FVTPL 31,689,887 105,854,558 43,345,718 180,890,163
     

As at 31 December 2022

Segment assets 49,484,498 177,381,463 79,764,682 306,630,643

Segment liabilities 89,651,786 512,499 8,344,518 98,508,803
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11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical information:

The Group’s revenue from external customers by location of operations and information about its non-current assets 

by location of assets are detailed below:

    

Revenue Non-current assets

2023 2022 2023 2022

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
     

Hong Kong 275,527 297,030 — —

People’s Republic of China except 

 Hong Kong — — 10,350,333 —

Australia 5,606,640 2,808,000 — —

Others 86,800 86,800 — —
     

5,968,967 3,191,830 10,350,333 —
     

Revenue from major customers:

Revenue from one of the customers of the Group’s investment banking segment was amounted to HK$5,606,640 

(2022: HK$2,808,000) and represented 94% (2022: 88%) of the Group’s total revenue.

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and Australia, the Company is not subject to any income 

taxes in the Cayman Islands and Australia.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated financial statements since the Group has 

either sufficient tax losses brought forward to set off against current year’s assessable profit or no assessable profit 

for the year.
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the product of loss before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong 

Profits Tax rate is as follows:

  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

Loss before tax (183,170,757) (196,308,837)
   

Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% (30,223,175) (32,390,958)

Tax effect of income that is not taxable (3,098) (586)

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible 30,251,712 32,150,131

Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised (6,600) (6,600)

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised (220,990) (103,329)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 202,151 351,342
   

Income tax expense — —
   

At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused tax losses of approximately HK$5,231,000 (2022: 

HK$5,345,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the 

unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the following:

  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

Auditor’s remuneration

 – Audit services 620,000 620,000

 – Non-audit services 250,000 250,000
   

870,000 870,000

Consultancy service fees paid to a non-controlling shareholder 720,000 —

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,000,000 —

(Reversal of allowance)/allowance for ECL (3,680,000) 4,500,000

Equity-settled share-based payments to a consultant 

 which is a non-controlling shareholder 493,596 —
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14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE
  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

Employee benefits expense:

 Salaries, bonuses and allowances 5,667,195 4,177,213

 Equity-settled share-based payments 818,320 —

 Retirement benefit - defined contribution plans 83,162 64,315
   

6,568,677 4,241,528
   

15. DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

16. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the following:

  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

Loss

Loss for the purpose of calculating basic loss per share (183,170,757) (196,308,837)
   

  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose 

 of calculating basic loss per share 105,000,000 101,410,959
   

No diluted loss per share has been presented as there were no potential dilutive shares outstanding for the years 

ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
 

Leasehold 

improvements

HK$
  

Cost

At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 1,000,000

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 1,000,000
  

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2023 —
  

At 31 December 2022 —
  

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
 

Leased property

HK$
  

At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 —

Additions 7,200,000

Depreciation (1,000,000)
  

At 31 December 2023 6,200,000
  

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets 

may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,000,000 —
   

In 2023, the Group leases an office premise for its operations. A sub-lease contract is entered into for a fixed term of 

3 years (2022: Nil). The 3-year lease rental amount to HK$7,200,000 (2022: HK$Nil) was settled in advance during 

the year by transferring the same amount from other receivables from a Cayman broker (note 20(a)). Lease terms 

are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining 

the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract 

and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.



93Annual Report 2023

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 are as follows:

     

Name

Country of

incorporation/Kind 

of legal entity

Particular of 

issued share 

capital

Percentage of 

ownership interest/

voting power/

profit sharing

Principal 

activities

Direct Indirect
      

Phoenician Limited Hong Kong/Limited 

 liability company

38,451,800

ordinary shares

100% — Provision of asset 

management services

Phoenician Advisory 

 Services Limited

Hong Kong/Limited 

 liability company

5,000,000

ordinary shares

100% — Provision of 

advisory services

Phoenician Securities 

 Limited

Hong Kong/Limited 

 liability company

129,680,800 

ordinary shares

100% — Provision of securities 

dealing services

Phoenician Services 

 Limited

Hong Kong/Limited 

 liability company

1 ordinary 

share

100% — Provision of 

professional services
      

The above list contains the particulars of subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the 

Group.
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20. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS
  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

Receivable from a Cayman broker (note (a)) 3,470,433 19,348,697

Allowance for ECL (820,000) (4,500,000)
   

2,650,433 14,848,697

Receivables from other brokers 456,361 98,211
   

3,106,794 14,946,908

Prepayments (note (b)) 6,752,564 —
   

9,859,358 14,946,908
   

Analysed as:

Current assets 5,709,025 14,946,908

Non-current assets 4,150,333 —
   

9,859,358 14,946,908
   

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other receivables and prepayments are denominated in the following 

currencies:

  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

AUD 2,688,391 14,901,873

GBP — 43,151

USD 21,731 —

Hong Kong dollars 7,149,236 1,884
   

9,859,358 14,946,908
   

Notes:

(a) The receivable from a Cayman broker, which is a non-controlling shareholder of the Company since December 2023, represented the 

remaining proceeds received from issue of the Company’s shares during the year ended 31 December 2022, after the payment of operating 

expenses and partial repayment of the unsecured loan. The Cayman broker is an Excluded Person registered in accordance with the Securities 

Investment Business Law (2004 Revision) of the Cayman Islands from the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority (“CIMA”) and is exempted from 

obtaining a licence from CIMA to conduct securities investment business. Mr. Kwan Chan, a director of the Company, was a director of the 

Cayman broker up to 31 December 2022. Mr. Kwan Chan resigned as a director of the Cayman broker on 1 January 2023.

(b) In 2023, the Group entered into a comprehensive service agreement and an assignment agreement for IT services, management services, 

utilities and assignment of employees. Both agreements are with fixed term of 3 years (2022: Nil). These 3-year service fees totalling 

HK$7,800,000 (2022: HK$Nil) were settled in advance during the year by transferring the same amount from other receivables from a Cayman 

broker (note 20(a)).
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21. TRADE AND CLIENT RECEIVABLES
  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

Trade and client receivables 3,032,640 4,868,133
   

The aging analysis of trade and client receivables, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

0 to 90 days 3,032,640 4,868,133
   

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and client receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

AUD — 1,038,034

GBP — 3,596,099

USD 3,032,640 234,000
   

3,032,640 4,868,133
   

Included in trade and client receivables were receivables from brokers on behalf of clients totalling HK$Nil (2022: 

HK$792,025).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL
  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

Equity securities, at fair value

Listed outside Hong Kong 103,774,011 277,837,518
   

Analysed as:

Current assets 103,774,011 277,837,518
   

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are mandatorily measured at FVTPL in accordance with IFRS 9.

Included in the financial assets at FVTPL was investment with carrying value of HK$103,554,520 (2022: 

HK$277,638,640) in a listed company, the shares of which are dual listed on the NSX and LSE (the “Shares”). As at 31 

December 2023, the Group held 13.63% (2022: 14.11%) interest in this listed company. The fair values of the Shares 

are based on current bid prices of LSE, in which the directors considered LSE to be the principal market of trading of 

these listed securities.

The fair values of other listed securities are based on current bid prices.

The investments offer the Group the opportunity for return through dividend income and fair value gains. They have 

no fixed maturity or coupon rate.

The fair values of the Group’s financial assets at FVTPL are denominated in the following currencies:

  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

AUD 219,491 198,878

GBP 103,554,520 277,638,640
   

103,774,011 277,837,518
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23. BANK AND CASH BALANCES

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and cash balances are denominated in the following currencies:

  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

AUD 1,187,340 1,756,263

GBP 17,034,794 2,635,751

USD 119,017 101,602

Hong Kong dollars 4,465,549 4,326,799

Euro 66,725 52,669
   

22,873,425 8,873,084
   

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held client trust monies of HK$17,478,743 (2022: HK$3,896,445) in segregated 

bank accounts.

24. TRADE AND CLIENT PAYABLES
  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

Trade and client payables 17,478,730 8,054,306
   

The aging analysis of trade and client payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

0 to 90 days 17,478,730 8,054,306
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24. TRADE AND CLIENT PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and client payables are denominated in the following currencies:

  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

AUD 364,027 2,066,039

GBP 16,658,981 5,592,104

Hong Kong dollars 405,177 347,177

Euro 50,545 48,986
   

17,478,730 8,054,306
   

25. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

Included in accruals and other payables were amounts due to a related company, a non-controlling shareholder and 

directors of HK$Nil (2022: HK$292,607), HK$180,000 (2022: Nil) and HK$79,737 (2022: HK$95,784) respectively.

The amounts due to a related company, a non-controlling shareholder and directors are unsecured, interest-free 

and have no fixed repayment terms.

26. UNSECURED LOAN

The unsecured loan represents a borrowing from a non-controlling shareholder of the Company. It is interest-

bearing at 4.7% (2022: 4.7%) per annum and repayable on 31 December 2024 (2022: 31 December 2024).

The carrying amount of the Group’s unsecured loan is denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

During the year, the Group incurred loan interest of HK$4,362,232 (2022: HK$4,142,368).
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27. SHARE CAPITAL
    

2023 2022

Number 

of shares Amount

Number 

of shares Amount

US$ US$
     

Authorised ordinary shares 

 of US$0.0000001 each:

At 1 January 1,000,000,000 100 5,000,000 50,000

Cancellation of shares (note (a)) — — (4,990,000) (49,900)

Shares split (note (a)) — — 999,990,000 —
     

At 31 December 1,000,000,000 100 1,000,000,000 100
     

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares:

At 1 January 105,000,000 11 1,000 10

Shares split (note (a)) — — 99,999,000 —

Issue of shares (note (b)) — — 5,000,000 1
     

At 31 December 105,000,000 11 105,000,000 11
     

Equivalent to HK$86 HK$86
     

Notes:

(a) On 22 April 2022, the Company cancelled 4,990,000 authorised ordinary shares and reduced the authorised share capital to US$100. It divided 

each ordinary share (including both issued and unissued share) into 100,000 ordinary shares. The number of authorised ordinary shares and 

issued ordinary shares became 1,000,000,000 and 100,000,000 respectively.

(b) On 20 September 2022, the Company issued 5,000,000 shares at consideration of AUD1 each, totalling AUD5,000,000 (equivalent to 

HK$25,127,000). The premium on the issue of shares, less related transaction costs, amounting to HK$25,091,937 (note 28(b)) was credited 

to the Company’s share premium account.
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27. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 

and to maximise the return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes 

adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue new 

shares, buy-back shares, raise new debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The externally imposed capital requirements for the Group are to maintain its listing on the NSX it has to have a 

public float of at least 25% of the shares.

The Group receives a report from the share registrars on request regarding the substantial share interests showing 

the non-public float and it demonstrates continuing compliance with the 25% limit throughout the year. As at 31 

December 2023, 32.19% (2022: 32.19%) of the shares were in public hands.



101Annual Report 2023

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

   

Note 2023 2022

HK$ HK$
    

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 46,637,751 115,350,267
    

Current assets

Other receivables and prepayments 2,672,164 14,848,697

Due from subsidiaries 5,394,370 3,988,702

Financial assets at FVTPL 60,667,282 162,532,688

Bank and cash balances 143,304 78
    

68,877,120 181,370,165
    

Current liabilities

Accruals and other payables 371,996 415,213

Due to subsidiaries 8,361,162 8,187,894

Unsecured loan 100,811,488 —
    

109,544,646 8,603,107
    

Net current (liabilities)/assets (40,667,526) 172,767,058
    

Total assets less current liabilities 5,970,225 288,117,325

Non-current liabilities

Unsecured loan — 89,182,656
    

NET ASSETS 5,970,225 198,934,669
    

Capital and reserves

Share capital 86 86

Reserves 28(b) 5,970,139 198,934,583
    

TOTAL EQUITY 5,970,225 198,934,669
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28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

     

Note

Share premium 

account

Share-based 

payments reserve

Retained profits/

(accumulated 

losses) Total

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
      

At 1 January 2022 — — 338,847,590 338,847,590

Total comprehensive 

 income for the year — — (165,004,944) (165,004,944)

Issue of shares 27(b) 25,091,937 — — 25,091,937
      

At 31 December 2022 

 and 1 January 2023 25,091,937 — 173,842,646 198,934,583

Total comprehensive 

 income for the year — — (194,276,360) (194,276,360)

Share-based payments — 1,311,916 — 1,311,916
      

At 31 December 2023 25,091,937 1,311,916 (20,433,714) 5,970,139
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29. RESERVES

(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are presented in the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium account

Share premium represents an amount equal to the amount or value of the premium paid on the issue 

of any share or capital contributed or such other amounts required by the Companies Act of the Cayman 

Islands.

The following amounts shall be debited to the share premium account:

–  on the redemption or purchase of a share, the difference between the nominal value of that share 

and the redemption or purchase price; and

–  any other amount paid out of a share premium account as permitted by the Companies Act of the 

Cayman Islands.

(ii) Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated number of 

unexercised share awards granted to eligible participants of the Group recognised in accordance with 

the accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in note 4(p) to the consolidated 

financial statements.
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57)

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously for at least five years are entitled to long service 

payments in accordance with the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance under certain circumstances. These 

circumstances include where an employee is dismissed for reasons other than serious misconduct or redundancy, 

that employee resigns at the age of 65 or above, or the employment contract is of fixed term and expires without 

renewal. The amount of LSP payable is determined with reference to the employee’s final salary (capped at 

HK$22,500) and the years of service, reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits derived from the Group’s 

contributions to MPF scheme with an overall cap of HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group does not have 

any separate funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment Ordinance, which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits 

derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP. The Abolition will officially take effect on 

the Transition Date (i.e., 1 May 2025). Separately, the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region is 

also expected to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers for a period of 25 years after the Transition Date on 

the LSP payable by employers up to a certain amount per employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative 

returns, after the Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but are 

not eligible to offset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation. Furthermore, the LSP obligation before the Transition 

Date will be grandfathered and calculated based on the last monthly wages immediately preceding the Transition 

Date and the years of service up to that date.

The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance has no material impact on the Group’s LSP liability as at 

31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 with respect to Hong Kong employees that participate in MPF Scheme.

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share award scheme

The Group operates a share award scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of establishing a method by which 

eligible participants can participate in the future growth and profitability of the Group, providing incentives and 

rewards to eligible participants for their contributions to the Group; and attracting and retaining a high standard 

of managerial and technical personnel for the benefit of the Group. Eligible participants include the full-time 

employees, executives, officers, directors, business consultants of the Company and the Company’s subsidiaries. 

The number of shares to be received on exercise of awards offered under an offer will not exceed 5% of the total 

number of shares on issue at the date of the offer. The Scheme became effective on 22 April 2022 and, unless 

otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force from that date.
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share award scheme (Continued)

Details of the awards are as follows:

   

Date of award Vesting period

Fair value per share 

at the date of award

HK$
    

2023 Stock Incentive Plan 13 January 2023 13 January 2023 - 

31 December 2025

7.47

    

The share awards under the 2023 Stock Incentive Plan are subject to a vesting schedule measured by a service 

condition. Other than satisfying the service condition, eligible participants are not required to provide any 

consideration in order to acquire the shares awarded to him under the 2023 Stock Incentive Plan.

The fair value of the shares awarded during the year is measured by the quoted market price of the shares at the 

award date.

Details of the movement of share awards during the year are as follows:

  

2023 2022

Number of Number of

share awards share awards
   

Outstanding at the beginning of the year — —

Granted during the year 320,000 —
   

Outstanding at the end of the year 320,000 —
   

Exercisable at the end of the year 106,000 —
   

The awards outstanding at the end of the year have remaining contractual life of 2 years (2022: N/A).

The Group recognised share-based payments in profit or loss during the year amounted to HK$1,311,916 (2022: 

HK$Nil).
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transaction

Additions to right-of-use assets and prepayments during the year amounted to HK$7,200,000 (2022: HK$Nil) 

(note 18) and HK$7,800,000 (2022: HK$Nil) (note 20(b)) respectively were settled by transferring the same 

amounts from other receivables from a Cayman broker (note 20(a)) to the accounts of the tenant of the head 

lease for the office premises and the assignor of employees.

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash 

and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or 

future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from 

financing activities.

    

1 January 2023 Cash flows

Interest 

expenses

31 December 

2023

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
     

Unsecured loan (note 26) 89,182,656 7,266,600 4,362,232 100,811,488
     

    

1 January 2022 Cash flows

Interest 

expenses

31 December

 2022

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
     

Unsecured loan (note 26) 93,538,865 (8,498,577) 4,142,368 89,182,656
     

33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities (2022: Nil).
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

(a) In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial 

statements, the Group had the following transactions with its related parties during the year:

  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

Investment advisory fees received from the 

 former ultimate controlling party — 5,000

Investment management fees received from the former 

 ultimate controlling party — 5,850

Key management personnel services expenses 

 paid to a related company — 566,498

Assignment fees paid to a related company — 788,815
   

(b) The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

  

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

Short-term benefits 4,091,462 3,597,660

Post-employment benefits 36,000 30,000

Share-based payments 409,160 —
   

4,536,622 3,627,660
   

35. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a) Shares issued for exercising of share awards

106,000 ordinary shares of the Company were issued for exercising of share awards under 2023 Stock 

Incentive Plan at consideration of HK$Nil on 3 January 2024.

(b) Financial assets at FVTPL

On the date of authorisation of this annual report, the market value of the financial assets at FVTPL (note 22) 

has declined by approximately HK$16,354,000 compared with the market value as at 31 December 2023, 

which resulted in fair value losses of HK$16,354,000.
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The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group prepared on the bases set 

out in the note below:

  

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

RESULTS

Revenue 5,968,967 3,191,830
   

Loss before tax (183,170,757) (196,308,837)

Income tax expense — —
   

Loss for the year (183,170,757) (196,308,837)
   

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company (183,170,757) (196,308,837)
   

  

At 31 December

2023 2022

HK$ HK$
   

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets 10,350,333 —

Current assets 135,494,101 306,630,643

Current liabilities (119,581,435) (9,326,147)

Non-current liabilities — (89,182,656)
   

Net assets 26,262,999 208,121,840
   

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company 26,262,999 208,121,840
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Additional information required by the National Stock Exchange of Australia Limited not shown elsewhere in this Annual 

Report is as follows. The information is as at 31 December 2023.

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION AS AT MOST RECENT BALANCE DATE (31 DECEMBER 2023)

TEN LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS (AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023)

  

Ordinary Shareholders

Number of Ordinary 

Shares Fully Paid Percentage
   

ZURICH CAPITAL PARTNERS LIMITED 61,400,000 58.48%

BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD 19,359,500 18.44%

HIGH NOBLE INVESTMENTS LIMITED 9,800,000 9.33%

UNICO HOLDINGS LIMITED 4,300,000 4.09%

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 3,482,500 3.32%

SINOWIDE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 3,000,000 2.86%

FORTUNE LUCK CONSULTANTS LIMITED 1,000,000 0.95%

JURA VENTURES LIMITED 1,000,000 0.95%

PHOENIX FUND SOLUTIONS LIMITED 981,000 0.93%

CEDRUS INVESTMENTS LIMITED 300,000 0.29%
   

104,623,000 99.64%
   

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS (AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023)

  

SPREADS OF HOLDINGS NUMBER OF HOLDERS NUMBER OF UNITS
   

1 - 1,000 0 0

1,001 - 5,000 41 103,000

5,001 - 10,000 1 10,000

10,001 - 100,000 2 100,000

100,001 - 999,999,999,999 11 104,787,000
   

TOTAL 55 105,000,000
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

VOTING RIGHTS

Each member entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy or by attorney and on a show of hands.

Every person who is a member or a representative or a proxy of a member shall have one vote and on a poll every 

member present in person or by proxy or attorney or other authorised representative shall have one vote for each share 

held.

NUMBER OF HOLDERS OF EQUITY SECURITIES ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS

There are 105,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares on issue, held by 55 individual shareholders as at 31 December 2023.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2023, the following shareholders were recorded in the Register as a Substantial Shareholder.

  

Ordinary Shareholders

Number of Ordinary 

Shares Fully Paid Percentage
   

ZURICH CAPITAL PARTNERS LIMITED 61,400,000 58.48%

BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD 19,359,500 18.44%

HIGH NOBLE INVESTMENTS LIMITED 9,800,000 9.33%
   

OPTIONS

As at 31 December 2023 the Company had no listed or unlisted options on issue.

PERFORMANCE RIGHTS

On 13 January 2023 the Company had granted 320,000 Performance Rights to eligible participants of the Employee Share 

Option Plan (ESOP), converting into a maximum of 320,000 Shares, subject to the continuous employment/engagement 

of the eligible participants. Of the total performance rights on issued, 106,000 Performance rights were converted to 

shares on 3 January 2024.






